
REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL
CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI

April 9, 2024
AGENDA
10:00 AM

CALL TO ORDER BY THE PRESIDENT

INVOCATION

1. SABRINA SHELBY, WARD 4

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

PUBLIC HEARING

INTRODUCTIONS

PUBLIC COMMENTS

CONSENT AGENDA

2. NOTE: "ALL MATTERS LISTED UNDER THE CONSENT AGENDA
ARE CONSIDERED TO BE ROUTINE BY THE CITY COUNCIL AND
WILL BE ENACTED BY ONE MOTION IN THE FORM LISTED
BELOW.  THERE WILL BE NO SEPARATE DISCUSSION OF THESE
ITEMS. IF DISCUSSION IS DESIRED, THAT ITEM WILL BE
REMOVED FROM THE CONSENT AGENDA AND CONSIDERED
SEPARATELY."

3. RESOLUTION ADJUDICATING COSTS AND PENALTIES FOR
PARCEL CLEANED PURSUANT TO RESOLUTION ADJUDICATING
THE SAME TO BE MENACE TO PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY, AND
WELFARE ON MAY 23, 2023 IN CASE NUMBER CE-22-1011.

4. RESOLUTION ADJUDICATING COSTS AND PENALTIES FOR
PARCEL CLEANED PURSUANT TO THE RESOLUTION
ADJUDICATING THE SAME TO BE A MENACE TO PUBLIC HEALTH,
SAFETY, AND WELFARE ON APRIL 11, 2023 IN CASE NUMBER CE-21-
1889.

5. RESOLUTION ADJUDICATING COSTS AND PENALTIES FOR A
PARCEL CLEANED PURSUANT TO RESOLUTION ADJUDICATING
THE SAME TO BE A MENACE TO PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY, AND
WELFARE ON MAY 23, 2023 IN CASE NUMBER CE-22-463.

6. RESOLUTION ADJUDICATING COSTS AND PENALTIES FOR A
PARCELS CLEANED PURSUANT TO RESOLUTION ADJUDICATING

ORDER

REVISED



THE SAME TO BE A MENACE TO PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY, AND
WELFARE ON AUGUST 29, 2023 IN CASE NUMBER CE-21-1768.

7. RESOLUTION ADJUDICATING COSTS AND PENALTIES FOR
PARCEL CLEANED PURSUANT TO THE RESOLUTION
ADJUDICATING THE SAME TO BE A MENACE TO PUBLIC HEALTH,
SAFETY, AND WELFARE ON MARCH 14, 2023 IN CASE NUMBER CE-
22-2059.

8. RESOLUTION ADJUDICATING COSTS AND PENALTIES FOR A
PARCEL CLEANED PURSUANT TO RESOLUTION ADJUDICATING
THE SAME TO BE MENACE TO PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY, AND
WELFARE ON NOVEMBER 22, 2022 IN CASE NUMBER CE-21-1873.

9. RESOLUTION ADJUDICATING COSTS AND PENALTIES FOR
PARCELS CLEANED PURSUANT TO RESOLUTIONS ADJUDICATING
THE SAME TO BE MENACE TO PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY, AND
WELFARE ON SEPTEMBER 27, 2022 IN CASE NUMBER CE-21-745.

10. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT
BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON AND LOVE TRUCKING CO.,
INC., TO DEMOLISH THE STRUCTURE, FOUNDATION, STEPS, AND
DRIVEWAY; CUT GRASS AND WEEDS; REMOVE TRASH AND
DEBRIS; AND REMEDY CONDITIONS ON PRIVATE PROPERTY
WHICH CONSTITUTE A MENACE TO PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY,
AND WELFARE ACCORDING TO MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED
SECTION 21-19-11 FOR CASE #CE-22-2523 LOCATED AT 4309
OFFICER THOMAS CATCHINGS DR PARCEL #306-129 – $5,888.00 –
WARD 4. (KEETON, LUMUMBA)

11. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT
BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON AND QUALITY LANDSCAPE
AND LAWN MAINTENANCE INC, TO DEMOLISH THE STRUCTURE,
FOUNDATION, STEPS, AND DRIVEWAY; CUT GRASS AND WEEDS;
REMOVE TRASH AND DEBRIS; AND REMEDY CONDITIONS ON
PRIVATE PROPERTY WHICH CONSTITUTE A MENACE TO PUBLIC
HEALTH, SAFETY, AND WELFARE ACCORDING TO MISSISSIPPI
CODE ANNOTATED SECTION 21-19-11 FOR CASE #CE-22-313
LOCATED 1622 VALLEY ST. PARCEL #161-43 – $3,500.00 – WARD 5.
(KEETON, LUMUMBA)

12. APPROVAL OF THE MARCH 18, 2024 REGULAR ZONING MEETING
MINUTES. (S.JORDAN, BANKS)

13. APPROVAL OF THE MARCH 18, 2024 SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING
MINUTES. (S.JORDAN, BANKS)

14. APPROVAL OF THE MARCH 19, 2024 SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING
MINUTES MEETING MINUTES. (S.JORDAN, BANKS)

INTRODUCTION OF ORDINANCES

15. ORDINANCE PROHIBITING BLOCKED RAILROAD CROSSINGS IN
THE CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI. (GRIZZELL) 

16. ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, CREATING
REGULATIONS FOR THE INSTALLATION OF DIGITAL SECURITY



CAMERA SYSTEMS FOR PARKING LOT AND ENTRY/EXIT DOOR
MONITORING OF CONVENIENCE TYPE GROCERY STORES AND
SERVICE STATIONS AND PROVIDING PROCEDURES FOR THE
INCORPORATION OF SAID SECURITY CAMERA SYSTEMS INTO
THE CITY’S EXISTING BLUE LIGHT CAMERA NETWORK – SAID
ORDINANCE TO BE TITLED “CONNECT JXN – BLUE LIGHT
SAFETY INITIATIVE”. (LEE)

ADOPTION OF ORDINANCE

17. ORDINANCE AMENDING THE CITY OF JACKSON
CLASSIFICATION AND COMPENSATION PLAN TO ADD THE JOB
CLASSIFICATIONS OF DEPUTY CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER AT A
PAY RANGE 50; LIAISON OFFICER AT A PAY RANGE 34;
PROCUREMENT OPERATIONS MANAGER AT A PAY RANGE 34;
FIXED ASSET MANAGER AT A PAY RANGE 31; VENDOR EQUITY
COORDINATOR AT A PAY RANGE 28; AND FISCAL OPERATIONS
MANAGER AT A PAY RANGE 34. (MARTIN, LUMUMBA)

REGULAR AGENDA

18. CLAIMS (MALEMBEKA, LUMUMBA)
19. PAYROLL (MALEMBEKA, LUMUMBA)
20. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE AN ORDER

AMENDMENT TO THE (60) MONTH RENTAL AGREEMENT WITH
PITNEY BOWES, INC. TO ADD A CELL CONNECTION DEVICE TO
THE POSTAGE MACHINE USED BY THE DEPARTMENT OF
ADMINISTRATION, TREASURY DIVISION. (MALEMBEKA,
LUMUMBA)

21. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT
FOR THE 311 MOBILE APPLICATION SUBSCRIPTION WITH
CITYSOURCED, INC. (LUMUMBA)

22. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE AN (MOU) WITH
SEROLOGICAL RESEARCH INSTITUTE (SERI) FOR SEXUAL
ASSAULT TESTING. (WADE, LUMUMBA) 

23. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE ORDER FORM
AND SERVICE AGREEMENT WITH LEADS ONLINE. (WADE,
LUMUMBA)

24. ORDER AUTHORIZING CHIEF JOSEPH WADE TO EXECUTE A
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING WITH HINDS BEHAVIORAL
HEALTH SERVICES, JACKSON HMA LLC DBA MERIT HEALTH
CENTRAL HOSPITAL, UNIVERSITY OF MISSISSIPPI MEDICAL
CENTER, BRENTWOOD BEHAVIORAL HEALTHCARE OF
MISSISSIPPI, CITY OF BYRAM ON BEHALF OF BYRAM POLICE
DEPARTMENT, HINDS COUNTY MISSISSIPPI ON BEHALF OF THE
HINDS COUNTY SHERIFF’S DEPARTMENT, AMERICAN MEDICAL
RESPONSE (AMR), THE NATIONAL ALLIANCE ON MENTAL
ILLNESS (NAMI MISSISSIPPI) CONCERNING THE HINDS COUNTY
CRISIS INTERVENTION TEAM AND SINGLE POINT OF ENTRY FOR



PERSONS IDENTIFIED BY THE CRISIS INTERVENTION TEAM
OFFICER AND HINDS COUNTY MOBILE CRISIS RESPONSE TEAMS
AS NEEDING MENTAL HEALTH EVALUATION, TREATMENT AND
STABILIZATION SERVICES. (WADE, LUMUMBA) 

25. ORDER REVISING THE FISCAL YEAR 2023-2024 MUNICIPAL
BUDGET FOR THE CITY OF JACKSON POLICE DEPARTMENT.
(WADE, LUMUMBA)

26. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE CITY OF JACKSON TO TRANSFER A
NON-OPERATIONAL 1999 FERRARA INFERNO PUMPER VEHICLE
TO THE MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS - CENTRAL
MISSISSIPPI CORRECTIONAL FACILITY. (OWENS, LUMUMBA)

27. ORDER APPROVING A PROFESSIONAL SERVICE AGREEMENT
WITH SUNBELT FIRE INC TO PERFORM REQUIRED SELF-
CONTAINED BREATHING APPARATUS FIT TESTING FOR THE
JACKSON FIRE DEPARTMENT. (OWENS, LUMUMBA)

28. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A SUPPORT
RENEWAL NOTICE WITH RICOH USA, INC. FOR A ONE-YEAR
LICENSE FOR THE WEBCRD DIGITAL WORKFLOW SOLUTION
AND SOFTWARE MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT TO BE USED BY
THE DEPARTMENT OF INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY, OFFICE OF
PUBLICATIONS. (REID, LUMUMBA)

29. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING AND RELATED
DOCUMENTS WITH THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI’S DEPARTMENT
OF FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION TO ISSUE FUNDS
ALLOCATED TO THALIA MARA HALL IN THE AMOUNT OF ONE
MILLION FIVE HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS FOR
RENOVATIONS AND UPGRADES TO THALIA MARA HALL. (SCOTT,
LUMUMBA) 

30. ORDER REVISING THE DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN AND CULTURAL
SERVICES 2023-2024 FISCAL YEAR BUDGET. (SCOTT, LUMUMBA)

31. ORDER APPROVING YEARLY MEMBERSHIP RENEWAL AND
AUTHORIZING PAYMENT TO SPECIES 360 FOR CONTINUED USE
OF ITS ZOOLOGICAL INFORMATION MANAGEMENT SOFTWARE
FOR THE JACKSON ZOO. (MUHAMMAD, LUMUMBA)

32. ORDER REQUESTING APPROVAL OF FUTURE SERVICES FROM
AND PAYMENTS TO MCMILLIAN IRRIGATION LLC FOR THE
PROVISION OF IRRIGATION INSTALLATION SERVICES FOR RAIN
BIRD INTEGRATED CONTROL EQUIPMENT THAT HAS ALREADY
BEEN PURCHASED BY THE PARKS & RECREATION DEPARTMENT.
(MUHAMMAD, LUMUMBA)

33. ORDER REQUESTING APPROVAL OF PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
FROM AND PAYMENTS TO FACILITY SERVICES AND
REMODELING LLC FOR POOL CLEANING AND RELATED
MAINTENANCE SERVICES FOR GROVE PARK POOL, TERRY ROAD
POOL, VA LEGION POOL, AND VINE STREET POOL. (MUHAMMAD,
LUMUMBA) 



34. ORDER REQUESTING APPROVAL OF PROFESSIONAL
ENTERTAINMENT SERVICES AND PAYMENT TO DJ KOOL LAID
ENTERTAINMENT FOR THE FLIPPING OUT TUMBLING EVENT
BEING HELD ON SATURDAY, APRIL 20, 2024, AT THALIA MARA
HALL. (MUHAMMAD, LUMUMBA)

35. ORDER REQUESTING APPROVAL AND PAYMENT FOR FUTURE
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES TO XTREME JUMPERS LLC FOR
ENTERTAINMENT SERVICES TO BE PROVIDED AT THE SUMMER
FUN DAY EVENT ON JULY 19, 2024, AT GROVE PARK COMMUNITY
CENTER. (MUHAMMAD, LUMUMBA)

36. ORDER REQUESTING APPROVAL AND PAYMENT FOR FUTURE
PROFESSIONAL ENTERTAINMENT SERVICES TO XTREME
JUMPERS LLC AND TO PARTYTYME EVENT SERVICE INC FOR
SERVICES THAT WILL BE PERFORMED AT THE ANNUAL
FIREWORKS EXTRAVANGANZA BEING HELD ON WEDNESDAY,
JULY 3, 2024, AT SMITH WILLS STADIUM. (MUHAMMAD, LUMUMBA)

37. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE CONTRACTS
BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON AND MULTI-CON, INC. FOR THE
USE OF CDBG FUNDS TO IMPLEMENT HOUSING REPAIR
ACTIVITIES TO SATISFY COMPONENTS OF THE LIMITED REPAIR
PROGRAM IN THE DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING. (WARD 6)
(KEETON, LUMUMBA)

38. ORDER RATIFYING PURCHASES AND PROCUREMENT OF
SERVICES FROM ONE (1) VENDOR AND AUTHORIZING PAYMENT
TO JEFCOAT FENCE COMPANY, INC. (KEETON, LUMUMBA)

39. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE HINDS COUNTY HUMAN RESOURCE
AGENCY TO REPAIR ROOFS ON BUILDINGS THAT HOUSE THE
AGENCY’S HEAD START PROGRAM. (KEETON, LUMUMBA) 

40. ORDER DECLARING PARCEL 824-548 AS SURPLUS PROPERTY AND
AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE THE SALE CONTRACT,
DEED OF CONVEYANCE, AND OTHER DOCUMENTS NECESSARY
TO SELL SAID PROPERTY TO CURTIS NICHOULS. (KEETON,
LUMUMBA) 

41. RESOLUTION OF THE GOVERNING AUTHORITIES OF THE CITY
OF JACKSON AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE
DOCUMENTS UPDATING THE CITY OF JACKSON PUBLIC TRANSIT
(JTRAN) TITLE VI DISCRIMINATION POLICY. (KEETON,
LUMUMBA)

42. ORDER ACCEPTING THE OFFER OF JUST COMPENSATION FROM
THE CITY OF BYRAM, MISSISSIPPI FOR TEMPORARY
CONSTRUCTION EASEMENTS AND A PERMANENT EASEMENT
AND AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE THE GRANT OF
SAID EASEMENT TO THE CITY OF BYRAM. (WRIGHT, LUMUMBA)

43. ORDER RATIFYING A PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT
WITH HESM&A CONSULTING ENGINEERS, A MISSISSIPPI
CORPORATION, TO DESIGN THE REPLACEMENT TO THE
EXISTING HVAC SYSTEMS FOR THE MEDGAR EVERS LIBRARY



EMERGENCY REPLACEMENT AND REPAIRS. (WRIGHT,
LUMUMBA)

44. ORDER AUTHORIZING PAYMENT TO THE MISSISSIPPI STATE
UNIVERSITY EXTENSION SERVICE FOR COMMERCIAL
PESTICIDE APPLICATOR RECERTIFICATION TRAINING.
(WRIGHT, LUMUMBA)

45. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE AN
ENGINEERING SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH MYRIAD
ENGINEERING SOLUTIONS, LLC FOR THE BEASLEY ROAD AND
SHAW ROAD BRIDGE REPLACEMENT PROJECT. (WRIGHT,
LUMUMBA)

46. ORDER AUTHORIZING SP PLUS CORPORATION TO DISPOSE OF
PARKING METERS BEING REPLACED THROUGH THE PARKING
METER MANAGEMENT PROGRAM AND AUTHORIZING ALL
REVENUE FROM THEIR DISPOSAL TO BE APPLIED TO THE COST
OF REMOVAL OF THE EXISTING METERS AND THE ASSOCIATED
REPAIR OF SIDEWALKS. (WRIGHT, LUMUMBA)

47. ORDER RATIFYING PROCUREMENT OF EQUIPMENT, REPAIRS,
AND SERVICES FROM VARIOUS VENDORS AND AUTHORIZING
PAYMENT TO SAID VENDORS FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC
WORKS. (WRIGHT, LUMUMBA) 

48. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A
CONSTRUCTION ENGINEERING AND INSPECTION SERVICES
AGREEMENT WITH NEEL-SCHAFFER, INC. FOR THE 48 INCH
WATER LINE PROJECT. (WRIGHT, LUMUMBA)

49. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE AN
ENGINEERING SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH CIVILTECH, INC.
FOR THE SMALLWOOD STREET AND ALYCE STREET BRIDGE
REPLACEMENT PROJECT. (WRIGHT, LUMUMBA) 

50. ORDER AMENDING THE FISCAL YEAR 2024 BUDGET OF THE CITY
OF JACKSON DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS. (WRIGHT,
LUMUMBA)

51. ORDER ACCEPTING THE QUOTE OF JACKSON BLUEPRINT &
SUPPLY, INC. FOR SCANNING SERVICES AND AUTHORIZING
PAYMENT. (WRIGHT, LUMUMBA)

52. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE AN FY2024
JOINT FUNDING AGREEMENT WITH THE UNITED STATES
DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR, U.S. GEOLOGICAL SURVEY FOR
WATER RESOURCES INVESTIGATIONS. (WRIGHT, LUMUMBA)

53. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE CHANGE
ORDER #1 TO THE CONTRACT OF DICKERSON & BOWEN, INC.,
FOR CONSTRUCTION OF THE STREET RESURFACING PROJECT
PHASE 1A. (WRIGHT, LUMUMBA)

54. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A PURCHASE
ORDER AGREEMENT WITH WHEELDESTRIAN LIMITED
LIABILITY COMPANY FOR THE PURCHASE OF A WHEELDESTRIAN



PEDESTRIAN CROSSING SAFETY SYSTEM DEMONSTRATION
UNIT. (WRIGHT, LUMUMBA)
 

55. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE AN INSURANCE
SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON,
MISSISSIPPI AND FISHER BROWN BOTTRELL INSURANCE
AGENCY. (MARTIN, LUMUMBA)

56. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE CITY OF JACKSON TO RATIFY
SERVICES PROVIDED BY GET-COMM FOR THE INSTALLATION OF
CABLE FOR THE OFFICE OF THE CLERK OF COUNCIL.
(S.JORDAN, BANKS)

57. RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI
IN SUPPORT OF THE SOUTH JACKSON PARADE AND FESTIVAL.
(GRIZZELL)

58. ORDER OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI
IMPLEMENTING A SALARY INCREASE FOR THE JACKSON
POLICE DEPARTMENT PAYING THE POLICE OFFICERS HIGHER
THAN ANY OTHER POLICE AGENCY IN THE REGION. (STOKES)

DISCUSSION

59. DISCUSSION: MASS SHOOTINGS (STOKES)
60. DISCUSSION: INDUSTRIAL DRIVE (STOKES)
61. DISCUSSION: ENGAGEMENT LETTER (BANKS)
62. DISCUSSION: DEBT SERVICE AND ARPA SPENDING

UPDATE (BANKS)
63. DISCUSSION: STRAY DOGS/ANIMAL CONTROL AND GARBAGE

RATES (LEE)
64. DISCUSSION: TREES AND PINE BEETLE INFESTATION (HARTLEY)
65. DISCUSSION: STREET SIGNS, STREET MARKERS AND TRAFFIC

SIGNS (HARTLEY)
66. DISCUSSION: OUTSOURCING PUBLIC WORKS MANAGEMENT TO

LOCAL ENGINEERING FIRM (FOOTE)
67. DISCUSSION: PENDING LITIGATION (D.MARTIN)

PRESENTATION

PROCLAMATION

RESOLUTIONS

REPORT FROM MEMBERS, MAYOR, DEPARTMENT DIRECTORS

68. MONTHLY REPORT OF PRIVILEGE TAXES AS REQUIRED
ACCORDING TO SECTION 27-17-501 OF THE MISSISSIPPI CODE
ANNOTATED OF 1972.

ANNOUNCEMENTS



ADJOURNMENT

AGENDA ITEMS IN COMMITTEE





























































































































































REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
              MONDAY, MARCH 18, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              1114 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

BE IT REMEMBERED that a Regular Zoning Meeting of the City Council of Jackson, 
Mississippi was convened in the Council Chambers in City Hall at 2:30 p.m. on March 18, 2024, 
being the third Monday of said month when and where the following things were had and done to 
wit: 

Present: Council Members: Aaron Banks, Council President, Ward 6; Angelique 
Lee, Council Vice President, Ward 2 (via teleconference); Ashby Foote, 
Ward 1; Brian Grizzell, Ward 4 (via teleconference); Vernon Hartley, Ward 
5 (via teleconference) and Virgi Lindsay, Ward 7. Directors: Shanekia 
Mosley-Jordan, Clerk of Council; Denise Fortner, Chief Deputy Clerk of 
Council; Ester Ainsworth, Zoning Administrator and Kristie Metcalfe, 
Deputy City Attorney. 

Absent:   Kenneth I. Stokes, Ward 3. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * *

The meeting was called to order by President Aaron Banks. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * *

President Banks recognized Zoning Administrator Ester Ainsworth who provided the Council 
with a procedural history of Zoning Case No. 4232, including all applicable ordinances, statutes, 
and a brief review of documents included in the Council agenda packets which were the applicable 
zoning map, future land use map, photos of the subject area, staff report, application with exhibits 
and planning board meeting minutes.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

President Banks requested that the Clerk read the Order: 

ORDER DENYING ROBINSON INDUSTRIES, INC. A REZONING FROM I-1 
(LIGHT) INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT TO R-5 (MULTI-FAMILY) RESIDENTIAL 
DISTRICT, PEDESTRIAN ORIENTED FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 
5420 LYNCH ST. EXT. (PARCEL 825-483) TO ALLOW FOR A MULTIFAMILY 
RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT, CASE NO. 4232. 

WHEREAS, Robinson Industries, Inc. has filed a petition to rezone the property located 
at 5420 Lynch St. Ext. (Parcel 825-483), in the City of Jackson, First Judicial District of Hinds 
County, Mississippi from I-1 (Light) Industrial District to R-5 (Multi-family) Residential District 
to allow for a multifamily residential development; and 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council on January 22, 2024, remanded the Case to the 
Planning Board to allow for discussions between the applicant, the residents and the leaders of the 
Westhaven Community, regarding the requested rezoning and the plans for the subject property; 
and  

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Planning Board, after holding the required public hearing 
on February 28, 2024, has recommended denial of the request to rezone the property from I-1 
(Light) Industrial District to R-5 (Multi-family) Residential District to allow for a multifamily 
residential development; and 

WHEREAS, notice was duly and legally given to property owners and interested citizens 
that a meeting of the Council would be held at the City Hall at 2:30 p.m., Monday, March 18, 2024 
to consider said change based upon the record of the case as developed before the Jackson City 
Planning Board; and 

WHEREAS, it appeared to the satisfaction of the Jackson City Council that notice of said 
petition had been published in the  Mississippi Link on October 26, 2023 and November 9, 2023 
that a hearing had been held by the Jackson City Planning Board on February 28, 2024, all as 
provided for by ordinances of the City of Jackson and the laws of the State of Mississippi, and that 
the Jackson City Planning Board recommended the denial of the rezoning of the above described 

Agenda Item No. ________
April 9, 2024
(S.Jordan, Banks)



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, MARCH 18, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              1115 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

property from I-1 (Light) Industrial District to R-5 (Multi-family) Residential District to allow for 
a multifamily residential development; and 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council after having considered the matter, is of the opinion 
that such changes would not be in keeping with sound land use practice and to the best interest of 
the City and that there has not been a substantial change in the land use character of the surrounding 
area that justifies rezoning the property and there is not a public need for additional property in 
that area zoned in accordance with the request in said application since any previous City Council 
action.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI: 

That the property located in the City of Jackson, First Judicial District of Hinds County, 
Mississippi, more particularly described as follows: 

TRACT I: A parcel of land situated in the West half of the Southwest Quarter of Section 2, 
Township 5 North, Range 1 West and also part of Lot 1 5, Westhaven Subdivision according 
to a map or plat on file and of record in the Office of the Chancery Clerk of Hinds County, 
Mississippi at Jackson, in plat Book B at Page 71, and being more particularly described as 
follows: 

Commence at the Southeast Corner of Lot 10, Westside Industrial Heights according to a map 
or plat on file and of record in the Office of the Chancery Clerk of Hinds County at Jackson, 
Mississippi in Plat Book 18 at Page 19 and from said point run Easterly along the North line 
of Lynch Street and on the Easterly extension of the South line of said Westside Industrial 
Heights, for a distance of 161.68 feet to the East line of Peach Place; continue thence Easterly 
along the North line of Lynch Street on an extension of the last mentioned course, for a distance 
of 100 feet; turn thence to the right through and angle of 00 degrees 37 minutes and continue 
Easterly along the North line of Lynch Street, parallel with the 30 feet North of the centerline 
thereof, for the distance of 100 feet; turn thence to the right through an angle of 2 degrees 03 
minutes and continue Easterly along the North line of Lynch Street; 30 feet North of and 
parallel with the centerline thereof, for a distance of 100 feet; turn thence to the left through 
and angle of 80 degrees 54 minutes and run Northerly and parallel with the East line of Peach 
Place for a distance of 200 feet; turn thence to the left through an angle of 99 degrees 29 
minutes and run Westerly and parallel with the North line of Lynch Street for a distance of 100 
feet; turn thence to the left through an angle of 80 degrees 31 minutes and run Southerly 200 
feet to the point of beginning. 

TRACT Il: A parcel situated in the West Half of the Southwest Quarter of Section 2, Township 
5 North, range 1 West, Hinds County, Mississippi, and also a part of Lot 15 Westhaven 
Subdivision according to a map or plat on file and of record in the Office of the Chancery Clerk 
of Hinds County at Jackson, Mississippi, in Plat Book B at Page 71 and being more particularly 
described as follows: 

Commence at the Southeast Comer of Lot 10 Westside Industrial Heights according to a map 
or plat on file and of record in the Office of the Chancery Clerk of Hinds County at Jackson, 
Mississippi, in Plat Book 18 at Page 1 9, and from said point run Easterly along the North line 
of Lynch Street and on the Easterly extension of the South line of said Westside Industrial 
Heights for the distance of 161.68 feet to the East line of Peach Place; continue thence Easterly 
along the North line of Lynch Street on an extension of the last mentioned course, for a distance 
of 10 feet; turn thence to the right through and angle of 00 degrees 37 minutes and continue 
Easterly along the North line of Lynch Street, parallel with and 30 feet North of the centerline 
thereof, for a distance of 100 feet; turn thence to the right through an angle of 2 degrees 03 
minutes and continue Easterly along the North line of lynch Street, 30 feet North of an parallel 
with the centerline thereof for a distance of 100 feet; turn thence to the right through an angle 
of 00 degrees 23 minutes and run Easterly along the North line of Lynch Street, 30 feet North 
of and parallel with the centerline thereof, fort a distance of 100 feet to the point of beginning, 
thence turn right through an angel of 00 degrees 33 minutes and run Easterly 100.0 feet; turn 
thence to the left through an angle of 80 degrees 54 minutes and run Northerly for a distance 
of 400 feet; turn thence to the left through an angle of 99 degrees 29 minutes and run Westerly 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, MARCH 18, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              1116 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

for a distance of 200 feet, turn thence to the left through an angle of 80 degrees 31 minutes and 
run Southerly 200 feet; thence left 99 degrees 29 minutes and run Easterly 100.0 feet; thence 
turn right 99 degrees 29 minutes and run Southerly 200.0 feet to the point of beginning. 

is hereby denied the petitioned rezoning of the of the property located at 5420 Lynch St. Ext. 
(Parcel 825-483) from I-1 (Light) Industrial District to R-5 (Multi-family) Residential District to 
allow for a multifamily residential development. 

President Banks moved adoption; Council Member Foote seconded. 
        _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

President Banks recognized Seymour Bell Jr., President of Westside Civic Club, who spoke 
in opposition of a rezoning from I-1 (Light) Industrial District to R-5 (Multi-family) Residential 
District to allow for a multi-family residential development.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
There was no was no representation from the Applicant. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 
Nays – None. 
Absent – Stokes. 

Note:  Council Member Grizzell joined the meeting during the discussion via teleconference. 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

President Banks recognized Zoning Administrator Ester Ainsworth who provided the Council 
with a procedural history of Zoning Case No. 4243 including all applicable ordinances, statutes, 
and a brief review of documents included in the Council agenda packets which were the applicable 
zoning map, future land use map, photos of the subject area, staff report, application with exhibits 
and planning board meeting minutes.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
President Banks requested that the Clerk read the Order: 
 

ORDINANCE GRANTING HOMEWOOD COMPANY, LLC A REZONING FROM R-
7 (MOBILE HOME PARK) RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT TO C-3 (GENERAL) 
COMMERCIAL DISTRICT TO ALLOW FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF SELF-
STORAGE FACILITY WITH A VARIANCE OF UP TO TEN (10) FEET FROM THE 
REQUIRED TWENTY-FIVE (25) FEET SETBACKS FOR THE REAR AND SIDE 
YARD FOR COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES THAT ADJOIN RESIDENTIALLY 
ZONED PROPERTIES FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 5330 N STATE ST 
(PARCEL 500-1000), CASE NO. 4243. 
 
WHEREAS, Homewood Company, LLC has filed a petition to rezone the property located 

at 5330 N State St in the City of Jackson, First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi from 
R-7 Mobile Home Park Residential District to C-3 (General) Commercial District to allow for the 
construction of self-storage facility with a Variance of up to ten (10) feet from the required twenty-
five (25) feet setbacks for the rear and side yard for commercial properties that adjoin residentially 
zoned properties; and 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Planning Board, after holding the required public hearing, 
has offered the recommendation to rezone the property from R-7 Mobile Home Park Residential 
District to C-3 (General) Commercial District to allow for the construction of self-storage facility 
with a Variance of up to ten (10) feet from the required twenty-five (25) feet setbacks for the rear 
and side yard for commercial properties that adjoin residentially zoned properties; and 

WHEREAS, notice was duly and legally given to property owners and interested citizens 
that a meeting of the Council would be held at the City Hall at 2:30 p.m., Monday, March 18, 2024 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, MARCH 18, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              1117 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

to consider said change based upon the record of the case as developed before the Jackson City 
Planning Board; and 

WHEREAS, it appeared to the satisfaction of the Jackson City Council that notice of said 
petition had been published in the  Mississippi Link on February 8, 2024 and February 22, 2024 
that a hearing had been held by the Jackson City Planning Board on February 28, 2024, all as 
provided for by ordinances of the City of Jackson and the laws of the State of Mississippi, and that 
the Jackson City Planning Board has offered the recommendation to rezone the above described 
property from R-7 Mobile Home Park Residential District to C-3 (General) Commercial District 
to allow for the construction of self-storage facility with a Variance of up to ten (10) feet from the 
required twenty-five (25) feet setbacks for the rear and side yard for commercial properties that 
adjoin residentially zoned properties; and 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council after having considered the matter, is of the opinion 
that such changes would be in keeping with sound land use practice and to the best interest of the 
City and that there has been a substantial change in the land use character of the surrounding area 
that justifies rezoning the property and there is a public need for additional property in that area 
zoned in accordance with the request in said application since any previous City Council action; 
and  

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council, after having considered the matter, is of the 
opinion that the granting of the Variance will not confer upon the applicant any special privilege 
that is denied by this Ordinance to other similar lands, structures or buildings in the same district 
within the existing C-3 (General) Commercial District of the City of Jackson. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI: 

SECTION 1 That the property located in the City of Jackson, First Judicial District of Hinds County, 
Mississippi, more particularly described as follows: 

A certain parcel of land lying and being situated in the South ½ of Section 11, Township 6 
North, Range I East, City of Jackson, Hinds County, Mississippi and being more particularly 
described as follows: 

Beginning at the intersection of the South line of aforementioned Section 11 with the Eastern 
right-of-way of North State Street and run North 27 degrees 57 minutes 10 seconds East along 
the said Eastern right-of-way 406.45 feet; thence leaving said Eastern line run South 63 degrees 
21 minutes 34 seconds East 383.44 feet; thence South 25 degrees 07 minutes 35 seconds West 
214.12 feet; thence North 89 degrees 07 minutes 27 seconds West along said South line of 
Section 11 a distance of 442.39 feet to the Point of Beginning, containing 2.8 acres, more or 
less. 

is hereby modified so as to approve the rezoning of the property located at 5330 N State Street 
(Parcel 500-1000) from R-7 Mobile Home Park Residential District to C-3 (General) Commercial 
District with a Variance of up to ten (10) feet from the required twenty-five (25) feet setbacks for 
the rear and side yard for commercial properties that adjoin residentially zoned properties.    
However, that before for any structure is erected or use thereof on the said property, the applicant 
must meet the requirements established through the Site Plan Review process.  The Zoning 
Administrator is ordered to note such change on the Official Zoning Map to the City of Jackson, 
Mississippi. 

SECTION 2.  That the cost of publication of this Ordinance shall be borne by the petitioner.  

SECTION 3.  That this Ordinance shall be effective thirty (30) days after its passage and after 
publication of same by the petitioner.   

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Foote seconded. 
        _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

President Banks recognized Justin Peterson, Representative for the Applicant, who spoke in 
favor of a rezoning from R-7 Mobile Home Park Residential District to C-3 (General) Commercial 
District to allow for the construction of self-storage facility with a Variance of up to ten (10) feet 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, MARCH 18, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              1118 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

from the required twenty-five (25) feet setbacks for the rear and side yard for commercial 
properties that adjoin residentially zoned properties.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

There was no opposition from the public. 
_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Grizzell, Lee and Lindsay. 
Nays – None. 
Absent – Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

There came on for consideration: Agenda Item No. III, Case No. 4244: 
 
President Banks recognized Zoning Administrator Ester Ainsworth, who stated said item’s 
recommendation of the planning board was appealed by a party of record and will be brought back 
to Council during the April Zoning Council Meeting.  
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 
 Note:  Council Member Hartley left the meeting  
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

President Banks recognized Zoning Administrator Ester Ainsworth who provided the Council 
with a procedural history of Zoning Case No. 4247, including all applicable ordinances, statutes, 
and a brief review of documents included in the Council agenda packets which were the applicable 
zoning map, future land use map, photos of the subject area, staff report, application with exhibits 
and planning board meeting minutes. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
President Banks requested that the Clerk read the Order: 
 

ORDER GRANTING ROBERT M. MCGINNIS A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT 
TO ALLOW FOR A COMMUNITY RECREATIONAL CENTER WITHIN A C-2 
(LIMITED) COMMERCIAL DISTRICT FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 
4465 I-55 NORTH (PARCEL: 437-298) – STE. 102 C, CASE NO. 4247. 

  
            WHEREAS, Robert M. McGinnis has filed a petition for a Use Permit to allow for a 
community recreational center within a C-2 (Limited) Commercial District for the property located 
at 4465 I-55 North (Parcel: 437-298) – Ste. 102 C in the City of Jackson, First Judicial District of 
Hinds County, Mississippi; and 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Planning Board, after holding the required public hearing, 
has recommended approval of a Conditional Use Permit to allow for a community recreational 
center within a C-2 (Limited) Commercial District for the property located at 4465 I-55 North 
(Parcel: 437-298) – Ste. 102 C; and 

WHEREAS, notice was duly and legally given to property owners and interested citizens 
that a meeting of the Council would be held at the City Hall at 2:30 p.m., Monday, March 18, 2024 
to consider said change, based upon the record of the case as developed before the Jackson City 
Planning Board; and 

WHEREAS, it appeared to the satisfaction of the Jackson City Council that notice of said 
petition had been published in the Mississippi Link on February 8, 2024 and February 22, 2024 
that a hearing had been held by the Jackson City Planning Board on February 28, 2024, all as 
provided for by ordinances of the City of Jackson and the laws of the State of Mississippi, and that 
the Jackson City Planning Board had recommended approval of a Conditional Use Permit within 
the existing C-2 (Limited) Commercial District of the City of Jackson; and 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, MARCH 18, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              1119 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

 WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council, after having considered the matter, is of the 
opinion that proposed use is compatible with the character of development in the vicinity relative 
to density, bulk and intensity of structures, parking, and other uses; would not be detrimental to 
the continued use, value, or development of properties in the vicinity and is in harmony with the 
Comprehensive Plan and that a Conditional Use Permit be granted to operate a community 
recreational center for the property located at 4465 I-55 North (Parcel: 437-298) – Ste. 102 C 
within the existing C-2 (Limited) Commercial District of the City of Jackson.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDERED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI: 

That the property located in the City of Jackson, First Judicial District of Hinds County, 
Mississippi, more particular described as follows: 

Part of Lots 7 and 8 and part of closed Spruce Street of J.O. Trawick Estate Subdivision the map 
or plat of which is recorded in the office of the Chancery Clerk of Hinds County at Jackson, 
Mississippi, in Plat Book 5, at Page 9, being situated in Section 24, Township 6 North, Range 1 
East, Hinds County and described as follows: 

Begin at an iron pin marking the intersection of. the South line of Spruce Street with the East line 
of St. Richards Drive; from said point of beginning run thence I South 89 degrees 56 minutes 24 
seconds East along the South line of Spruce Street, a distance of 25.49 feet to an iron pin on the 
North  line of Lot 8 of J.O. Trawick Estate Subdivision the map or plat of which is recorded in the 
Office of the Chancery Clerk of Hinds County, at Jackson,  Mississippi in Plat Book 5, at Page 9; 
thence North  89 degrees 27 minutes  23 seconds East along the South line of said Spruce Street, 
a distance of 139.21 feet; thence North O degrees 05 minutes 33 seconds West, a distance of 24.82 
feet to the center of a closed section of said Spruce Street; thence North 89 degrees 38 minutes 39 
seconds East along the center of said closed section of Spruce Street, a distance of 204.06 feet to 
the  present Westerly right-of-way line of Interstate Highway No. 55; thence Southerly along said 
Interstate Highway right-of- way line as follows: Southerly along an arc to the right having a radius 
of 3793.72 feet, a distance of 25.31 feet, said arc has a chord of South 9 degrees 54 minutes 15 
seconds West, a distance of 25.31 feet l thence South 89 degrees 34  minutes 51 seconds West, a 
distance of 9.15 feet; thence Southerly  along an arc to the right having a radius of 3784.72 feet, a 
distance of 57.08 feet, said arc has a chord of south 10 degrees 33 minutes 10 seconds West, a 
distance of 57.08 feet; thence South 50 degree 07 minutes 03 seconds East, a distance of 10.28 
feet; thence Southerly along an arc to the right having a radius of 3793.72 feet, a distance of 146.6 
feet, said arc has a chord of South 12 degrees 10 minutes 01 seconds West, a distance of 146.59 
feet: thence Southerly along an arc to the right having a radius of 7613.44 feet, a distance of 76.78 
feet, said arc has a chord of South 13 degrees 33 minutes 46 seconds West, a distance of 76.78 feet 
to the Northeasterly line of the Christ Lutheran Church property; thence North 56 degrees 24 
minutes West along the Northeasterly line of the Christ Lutheran Church property, a distance of 
416.56 feet to the Easterly line of St. Richards Drive; thence North 42 degrees 10 minutes East 
along the  Easterly line of St. Richards Drive, a distance of 64.4 feet to the point of beginning, 
containing 69,294 square feet or 1.5908 acres; more or less. 

be and is hereby modified so as to approve a Conditional Use Permit to operate a community 
recreational center within a C-2 (Limited) Commercial District for the property located at 4465 I-
55 North (Parcel: 437-298) – Ste. 102 C. The Conditions of the Use Permit shall be that it is granted 
on an annual basis; that it be granted to Robert M. McGinnis, the owner/operator of the community 
recreational center, that subsequent owners or operators of a community recreational center at the 
location must apply for and receive a new Use Permit and that compliance with adopted property 
maintenance, building, fire law enforcement and Zoning codes be maintained at all times.  
However, that before a Use Permit is issued for any structure to be erected or use thereof on the 
said property, the applicant must meet the requirements established through the Site Plan Review 
process.   

Council Member Foote moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 
_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

There was no representative from the Applicant.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, MARCH 18, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              1120 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

There was no opposition from the public. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Lee and Lindsay. 
Nays – None. 
Absent – Hartley and Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

President Banks recognized Zoning Administrator Ester Ainsworth who provided the Council 
with a procedural history of said Agenda Item for text amendments, including all applicable 
ordinances, statuses.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
President Banks requested that the Clerk read the Order: 

 

ORDINANCE APPROVING AMENDMENTS TO THE TEXT OF THE OFFICIAL 
ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF JACKSON MISSISSIPPI AND 
RESPECTIVELY ADOPTED ON MAY 29, 1974 WITH SUBSEQUENT 
AMENDMENTS IN ORDER TO PROVIDE FOR AND ESTABLISH MORE 
EFFECTIVE ZONING REGULATIONS FOR THE CITY OF JACKSON 
MISSISSIPPI. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF JACKSON, MS: 

That Article VII-A, Section 707.01-A for uses permitted in the C-4 Central Business District 
is hereby amended to read as follows: 

The following uses are permitted provided they are established in accordance with the 
procedures and provisions of this Ordinance. 

1. Arts, entertainment, and cultural facilities 
2. Adult and Child Care/Commercial 
3. General commercial and professional offices 
4. Mixed Use buildings which contain offices, retail, restaurants, residential and related 

services 
5. Churches and ancillary services 
6. Conference/Convention center 
7. Civic and Governmental uses including auditoriums and places of assembly 
8. Finance, insurance and professional offices 
9. Health/Fitness Club 
10. Hotels 
11. Museums, Art Galleries 
12. Personal services 
13. Pocket Parks, Plazas and Courtyards 
14. Public Art subject to approval of the Arts Council of Greater Jackson 
15. Residential Uses to include condominiums, cooperatives, multi-family, two -family 

attached and townhouses. 
18. Restaurant (Fast Food & General) 
19. Multi-modal transportation facilities 
20. Wholesale and retail commercial 
21. Brewpubs 

 That Article VII-A, Section 707.02-A for uses permitted as Use Permits in the C-4 Central 
Business District is hereby amended to read as follows: 
The following Use Permits are permitted provided they are established in accordance with the 
procedures and provisions of this Ordinance. 
1. Bar 
2. Commercial Communication Towers 
3. Residential Uses including single-family detached and zero-lot line detached units 
4. Night Clubs 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, MARCH 18, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              1121 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

5. Live/Work Units 
6. Parking Garages 
7. Warehouse and Distribution Facilities 
8. Bail Bonding Businesses 
9. Service Stations 
10. Drive-in facilities for banks and restaurants 
11. Commercial Car Washes 

12. Motels 
13. Liquor Store when located in a mixed use building and not in combination with a 

convenience type grocery store or service station 
14. Gaming Casinos 
15. Surface Parking Lots as principal use except on E. Capitol St. and that portion of W. 

Capitol Street on the east side of Gallatin St. 
16. Small Craft Brewery 
17. Distillery 
18.  Vendor Park 

 
 That Article X-A, Section 1003-A for uses permitted as Use Permits in the Special Use 

District (SUD) is hereby amended to read as follows: 
1. Animal Shelters  
2. Commercial Communication Towers 
3. Community Recreational Center 
4. Vendor Park 

 
 That Article X-A, for regulations in the Special Use District (SUD) is hereby amended to 

read as follows: 
 

1005-A Vehicular Parking Regulations: 

1. Buildings in a Special Use District that is located within the boundaries of the 
Central Business District are exempt from off-street parking requirements. Parking 
requirements for other Special Use Districts shall be determined by the Site Plan 
Review Committee. 

2. Parking lots shall be located in the rear or side yard of the principal building it 
serves, unless approved by the Site Plan Review Committee. 

1006-A Pre-Existing Conditions 

1. Minimum lot area, minimum yard requirements, lot coverage, distance between 
buildings and lot width measurements shall not be applicable upon existing and 
developed lots which do not meet such regulations at the date of adoption of this 
Section. 

2. Existing buildings that do not conform to the provision of this Section may 
continue in use as they are until a substantial modification is requested, at which 
time the Site Plan Review Committee shall determine which of the provisions of 
this Section shall apply and to what extent such provisions shall apply. 

3. The modification of existing buildings is permitted by right if such changes result 
in greater conformance with the specifications of this Section 

That this Ordinance shall be in force and effect thirty (30) days after passage and after 
publication of the same by the petitioner. 

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Council Member Foote seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Lee and Lindsay. 
Nays – None. 
Absent – Hartley and Stokes 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, MARCH 18, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              1122 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

Cancelled Special Exceptions\Use Permits – No Action Required 
 

   (Ward 2) SE 3857 – LaKisha Archie – 6759 Abraham Lincoln Dr. - (Parcel 805-354) 
 

• SE was granted to LaKisha Archie on Mar. 17, 2014 to operate a Residential Daycare 
Center within a R-1 (Single-family) Residential District. 
 

• Cancellation was based upon the business no longer operating at location. 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER GRANTING EXTENSION OF SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS AND USE 
PERMITS FOR ONE YEAR. 

            Coming for consideration are requests for the approval of the following for certification of 
renewal for one year and after the anniversary date of approval for Use Permit or Special Exceptions 
as follows: 

CASE NO. NAME LOCATION USE GRANTED 

SE – 3290 

Ward 2 
Southern 

Consultants 5740 County Cork Rd. Engineering Office 03/01/90 

C– UP 4045 

Ward 7 
Viera & Gwendolyn 

Roseburgh 420 Meadowbrook Rd. Community 
Recreational Center 03/18/19 

SE – 4114 

Ward 7 
Jabaz Reeves 239 Ferguson Drive Private Kennel 03/01/21 

  IT IS HEREBY ORDERED by the Council of the City of Jackson that the said Use 
Permits and/or Special Exceptions be and the same are hereby extended for another year from 
and after the anniversary date granting said permits. 

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Lee and Lindsay. 
Nays – None. 
Absent – Hartley and Stokes.    

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

There being no further business to come before the City Council, it was unanimously voted to 
adjourn until the next Special Council Planning Session to be held at 4:00 p.m. on Monday, March 
18, 2024. At 3:26 p.m., the Council stood adjourned. 
 
PREPARED BY:    APPROVED: 
 
                                   ____________                                                     ,______         ___                        
CLERK OF COUNCIL              COUNCIL PRESIDENT    DATE 
  
                                         ____________     

      MAYOR 

 
      ATTEST: 
 
                                         ____________     
      CITY CLERK 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 







SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
MONDAY, MARCH 18, 2024 4:00 P.M. 1123 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

BE IT REMEMBERED that a Special Meeting of the City Council of Jackson, 
Mississippi, was called by a majority of the City Council Members and notices having been placed 
by the Clerk of Council at 12:30 p.m. on Thursday, March 7, 2024, in the Clerk’s Office, electronic 
notifications to all Council Members, on the City’s website and on the public bulletin board in 
City Hall, relative to: To hold a Planning Session to discuss the business to be considered at the 
following Special Council meeting, March 19, 2024 at 10:00 a.m. The meeting was convened in 
the Council Chambers located at 219 S. President Street at 4:00 p.m. on Monday, March 18, 2024 
being the third Monday of said month, when and where the following things were had and done to 
wit: 

Present: Council Members: Aaron Banks, President, Ward 6; Angelique Lee, Vice 
President, Ward 2 (via teleconference); Ashby Foote, Ward 1; Brian 
Grizzell, Ward 4 (via teleconference) and Virgi Lindsay, Ward 7.  Directors: 
Mayor Chokwe Antar Lumumba; Safiya Omari, Chief of Staff; Shanekia 
Jordan, Clerk of Council; Denise Fortner, Chief Deputy Chief Clerk of 
Council and Drew Martin, City Attorney. 

Absent:  Kenneth I. Stokes Ward 3 and Vernon Hartley, Ward 5. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

The meeting was called to order by President Banks. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

President Banks recognized Safiya Omari, Chief of Staff, who provided a brief overview of 
Agenda Item No. 2 NOTE: "ALL MATTERS LISTED UNDER THE CONSENT AGENDA 
ARE CONSIDERED TO BE ROUTINE BY THE CITY COUNCIL AND WILL BE 
ENACTED BY ONE MOTION IN THE FORM LISTED BELOW. THERE WILL BE NO 
SEPARATE DISCUSSION OF THESE ITEMS. IF DISCUSSION IS DESIRED, THAT 
ITEM WILL BE REMOVED FROM THE CONSENT AGENDA AND CONSIDERED 
SEPARATELY." at the request of Council Member Lindsay. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

President Banks provided a brief overview of Agenda Item No. 6 ORDINANCE OF THE CITY 
OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI TO PROHIBIT THE AWARD OF A SOLID WASTE 
CONTRACT TO RICHARD’S DISPOSAL INC. at the request of Council Member Lindsay. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

President Banks recognized Cherre Miller, General Manager of Jackson Convention 
Complex, who provided a brief overview of Agenda Item No.14 ORDER AMENDING THE 
FISCAL YEAR 2023-2024 BUDGET OF THE CITY OF JACKSON TO PROVIDE FOR THE 
TRANSFER OF FUNDS TO THE CAPITAL CITY CONVENTION CENTER at the request of 
Council Member Lindsay.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

President Banks recognized Vincent Grizzell, Assistant Chief of Police, who provided a brief 
overview of Agenda Item No. 16 ORDER AUTHORIZING THE PAYMENT OF THE SUM OF 
$1,225.00 TO PSI SERVICES LLC FOR TESTING FEES ASSOCIATED WITH THE 
FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION UNMANNED AIRCRAFT EXAMINATION OF 
OFFICERS at the request of Council Member Foote and Council Member Lindsay. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

President Banks recognized Vincent Grizzell, Assistant Chief of Police, who provided a brief 
overview of Agenda Item No. 18 ORDER ACCEPTING THE BID OF KIRK AUTO WORLD, 
INC. TO PURCHASE 2022-2025 POLICE PURSUIT VEHICLES FOR TWELVE (12) 
MONTHS TO BE USED BY THE CITY OF JACKSON POLICE DEPARTMENT, (BID NO. 
07100-020624) at the request of Council Member Foote. 

Agenda Item No. ______
April 9, 2024
(S.Jordan, Banks) 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
MONDAY, MARCH 18, 2024 4:00 P.M. 1124 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * *

President Banks recognized Reginald Jefferson, Deputy Director of Housing, who provided a 
brief overview of Agenda Item No.27 ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO 
EXECUTE CONTRACTS BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON AND MULTI-CON, INC 
FOR THE USE OF CDBG FUNDS TO IMPLEMENT HOUSING REPAIR ACTIVITIES 
TO SATISFY COMPONENTS OF THE LIMITED REPAIR PROGRAM IN THE 
DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING at the request of Council Member Foote. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * *

President Banks recognized Robert Lee, City Engineer, who provided a brief overview of 
Agenda Item No. 31 ORDER ESTABLISHING JUST COMPENSATION, AUTHORIZING 
ACQUISITION OF A PERMANENT EASEMENT AND PAYMENT OF DAMAGES FOR 
THE LAUREL STREET AND ST. ANN STREET SEWER EMERGENCY REPAIR, AND 
AUTHORIZING PAYMENT TO OWNERS/GRANTORS TWIN SISTERS TRUST at the 
request of Council Member Foote. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

President Banks recognized Robert Lee, City Engineer, who provided a brief overview of 
Agenda Item No. 32 ORDER AUTHORIZING PAYMENT TO THE MISSISSIPPI 
DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY FOR UNDERGROUND STORAGE 
TANK FEES ASSOCIATED WITH THE LICENSING AND REGULATION OF FOUR (4) 
UNDERGROUND STORAGE TANKS at the request of Council Member Foote. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

President Banks recognized Joseph Wade, Chief of Police, who provided a brief overview of 
Agenda Item No. 18 ORDER ACCEPTING THE BID OF KIRK AUTO WORLD, INC. TO 
PURCHASE 2022-2025 POLICE PURSUIT VEHICLES FOR TWELVE (12) MONTHS TO 
BE USED BY THE CITY OF JACKSON POLICE DEPARTMENT, (BID NO. 07100- 
020624) at the request of Council Member Foote and Council Member Hartley. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

President Banks recognized Robert Lee, City Engineer, who provided a brief overview of 
Agenda Item No. 33 ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE 
SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT #2 TO THE PRELIMINARY ENGINEERING SERVICES 
CONTRACT WITH NEEL-SCHAFFER, INC. FOR THE MEDGAR EVERS BOULEVARD 
RAISE GRANT PROJECT at the request of Council Member Foote. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

President Banks recognized Drew Martin, City Attorney, who provided a brief overview of 
Agenda Item No. 34 ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE THE 
CONTRACT AND RELATED DOCUMENTS WITH RICHARD’S DISPOSAL, INC. TO 
PROVIDE SOLID WASTE COLLECTION AND HAULING SERVICES FOR A SIX (6) 
YEAR TERM COMMENCING APRIL 1, 2024 WITH FOUR (4) ONE (1) YEAR 
EXTENSION OPTIONS at the request of Council Member Lindsay. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

President Banks recognized Drew Martin, City Attorney, who provided a brief overview of 
Agenda Item No. 36 ORDER AUTHORIZING THE PAYMENT OF ATTORNEY’S FEES 
ON BEHALF OF JACKSON POLICE OFFICER RAKASHA ADAMS, IN THE MATTER 
OF THE ESTATE OF CRYSTALLINE BARNES, DECEASED VS. THE CITY OF 
JACKSON, ALBERT TAYLOR, IN HIS INDIVIDUAL AND OFFICIAL CAPACITY, 
RAKASHA ADAMS, IN HER INDIVIDUAL CAPACITY; IN THE UNITED STATES 
FEDERAL DISTRICT COURT, SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF MISSISSIPPI; CIVIL 
ACTION NO.: 3:18-CV-644-CWR-LGI at the request of Council Member Lindsay. 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                            MONDAY, MARCH 18, 2024 4:00 P.M.                  1125 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
President Banks recognized Council Member Lindsay who moved, seconded by President 
Banks to go into Closed Session to discuss pending litigation.  The motion prevailed by the 
following vote: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizell Lee and Lindsay. 
Nays – None. 
Absent – Hartley and Stokes. 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

President Banks announced to the public that the Council voted to go into Closed Session to 
discuss pending litigation. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

During Closed Session, Council Member Foote moved and President Banks seconded to go into 
Executive Session to discuss pending litigation.  The motion prevailed by the following vote: 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Lee and Lindsay. 
Nays – None. 
Absent – Hartley and Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

President Banks announced that the Council voted to go into Executive Session to discuss 
pending litigation. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

Council Member Lindsay moved, seconded by Council Member Foote to come out of 
Executive Session.  The motion prevailed by the following vote: 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell and Lindsay. 
Nays – None. 
Absent – Hartley, Lee and Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

Note- Vice President Lee left the meeting during Executive Session. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

President Banks announced that the Council voted to come out of Executive Session and no action 
was taken. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

There being no further business to come before the City Council, it was unanimously voted to 
adjourn until the next Special Council Meeting to be held at 10:00 a.m. on Tuesday, March 19, 
2024 and at 5:10 p.m., the Council stood adjourned. 
 
 
                                   ____________                                                     ,______         ___                        
CLERK OF COUNCIL              COUNCIL PRESIDENT    DATE 
  
 
                                         ____________     

      MAYOR 

 
      ATTEST: 
 
                                         ____________     
      CITY CLERK 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 







SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   1126 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

BE IT REMEMBERED that a Special Meeting of the City Council of Jackson, 
Mississippi, was convened at City Hall at 10:00 a.m. on March 19, 2024, being the third Tuesday 
of said month, when and where the following things were had and done to wit: 

Present: Council Members: Aaron Banks, Council President, Ward 6; Angelique 
Lee, Vice-President, Ward 2; Ashby Foote, Ward 1; Kenneth Stokes, Ward 
3; Brian Grizzell, Ward 4; Vernon Hartley, Ward 5 and Virgi Lindsay, Ward 
7. Directors: Chokwe Antar Lumumba, Mayor; Shanekia Jordan, Clerk of
Council; Sabrina Shelby, Chief Deputy Clerk of Council and Drew Martin,
City Attorney.

Absent:            None. 
* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

The meeting was called to order by President Banks. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * *

The invocation was offered by Pastor Marek Walker of Cherry Grove Baptist Church of 
Ward 3.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * *

The Council recited the Pledge of Allegiance. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * *

The following were introduced during the meeting: 

• Council Member Hartley stated the following:
 Appreciation for U.S. Secretary of Housing and Development meeting with him

during his visit to Washington, DC and her interest in Jackson, MS.

• Vice President Lee stated the following:
 Congratulations to Jackson State University Basketball Coach Tomekia Reed and

the JSU Women’s Basketball Team for winning their 2nd S.W.A.C Championship.

• President Banks stated the following:
 In Memory of Naru Ford

* * * * * * * * * * * * * *

Note: Council Member Stokes joined the meeting. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * *

APPROVAL OF THE FEBRUARY 26, 2024 REGULAR ZONING MEETING 
MINUTES.  

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 
Nays – None 
Absent – Grizzell. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * *

Agenda Item No. ___________
April 9, 2024
(S.Jordan, Banks) 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1127 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

APPROVAL OF THE FEBRUARY 27, 2024 REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
MINUTES.  
 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 
                                                          
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.  
Nays – None 
Absent – Grizzell. 

 
* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 
APPROVAL OF THE MARCH 4, 2024 SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING 
MINUTES.  
 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 
                                                          
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.  
Nays – None 
Absent – Grizzell. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

Note: Council Member Grizzell joined the meeting. 
  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI TO PROHIBIT THE 
AWARD OF A SOLID WASTE CONTRACT TO RICHARD’S DISPOSAL INC.  

 
WHEREAS, the public health, safety and welfare of the citizens of the City of Jackson 

shall be considered by this Ordinance; and 
 

  WHEREAS, according to Sec. 106-111. - Removal and disposal of solid waste generally; 
all residential solid waste shall be collected, removed and disposed of under the auspices of the 
public works department of the city; and 

 
WHEREAS, to uphold this regulation and protect the interests of Jackson's citizens, the 

ordinance is established to prohibit the award of the bid process for a solid waste to Richard’s 
Disposal Inc. 

 
  THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED that the Jackson City Council hereby 
prohibits the award of a solid waste contract to Richard’s Disposal Inc.  

Council Member Stokes moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 
_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 
President Banks recognized Drew Martin, City Attorney and Mayor Chokwe Antar 
Lumumba, who provided comments regarding said item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

After a thorough discussion, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Foote, Hartley and Stokes.  
Nays – Banks, Grizzell, Lee and Lindsay.  
Absent – None. 
 
Note: Said item failed due to a lack of a majority vote.  
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

ORDER APPROVING CLAIMS NUMBER 29971 to 30044 APPEARING AT 
PAGES 258 TO 289 INCLUSIVE THEREON, ON MUNICIPAL “DOCKET OF 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1128 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

CLAIMS”, IN THE AMOUNT OF $12,977,218.94 AND MAKING 
APPROPRIATIONS FOR THE PAYMENT THEREOF. 

 
IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that claims numbered 29971 to 30044 appearing at pages 

258 to 289, inclusive thereon in the Municipal “Docket of Claims”, in the aggregate amount of 
$12,977,218.94 are hereby approved for payment and said amount is expressly appropriated for 
the immediate payment thereof. 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that there is appropriated from the various funds the sums 

necessary to be transferred to other funds for the purpose of paying the claims as follows: 
 
                                                                                                                 TO 
                                                                                                ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 
         FROM:                                                                                        FUND 

GENERAL FUND   5,644,373.70 
SEIZURE & FORF PROP-FED  48,400.00 
TECHNOLOGY FUND  159,803.97 
PARKS & RECR. FUND  91,546.66 
BUSINESS IMPROV FUND (LANDSCP)  479,373.16 
LANDFILL/SANITATION FUND  1,000,363.12 
STATE TORT CLAIMS FUND   18,628.54 
WATER/SEWER OP & MAINT FUND  11,621.11 
WATER/SEWER CAPITAL IMPR FUND  1,386.09 
DISABILITY RELIEF FUND  2,255,555.48 
EMPLOYEES GROUP INSURANCE FUND  143,143.92 
HOUSING COMM DEV ACT (CDBG) FD  1,484.58 
H O P W A GRANT – DEPT OF HUD  30,010.57 
1% INFRASTRUCTURE TAX  169,744.93 
TRANSPORTATION FUND  806,181.78 
FONDREN BUSINESS IMPROV FUND  93,624.08 
RESURFACING-REPAIR & REPL. FD  37,176.92 
09 TIF BOND FUND $407000  37,777.00 
P E G ACCESS – PROGRAMMING FUND   27,246.82 
MHC BLIGHT ELIMINATION PROGRAM   14,627.35 
MODERNIZATION TAX   72,617.03 
CDBG COVID CARES   141,280.04 
ZOOLOGICAL PARK   21,838.46 
AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN ACT 2021  1,091,765.54 
LIBRARY FUND  171,704.16 
DFA-EUBANKS HB1353  9,988.18 
MDOT-CMPDD PROJECTS   183,315.46 
MDOT-ERBR PROJECTS   29,364.08 
BELHAVEN COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT   102,900.99 
HOME AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN   396.98 
LEFLEUR EAST BUSINESS DISTRICT  79,978.24 

TOTAL                                                                                                                   $12,977,218.94 
 
Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
President Banks recognized Fidelis Malembeka, Chief Financial Officer, who provided a brief 
overview of the Claims Docket at the request of President Banks. 

 _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1129 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Grizzell, Lee and Lindsay.  
Nays – Foote, Hartley and Stokes. 
Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

ORDER APPROVING GROSS PAYROLL INCLUDING PAYROLL 
 DEDUCTION CLAIMS NUMBERED 29971 TO 30044 AND MAKING 
 APPROPRIATION FOR THE PAYMENT THEREOF. 
 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that payroll deduction claims numbered 29971 to 30044 
inclusive therein, in the Municipal “Docket of Claims”, in the aggregate amount of $99,155.92 
plus payroll, are approved for payment and necessary amounts are appropriated from various 
municipal funds for transfer to the payroll fund for the immediate payment thereof. 
 

IT IS FINALLY ORDERED that the following expenditures from the accounts payable 
fund be made in order to pay amounts transferred thereto from the payroll fund for payment of the 
payroll deduction claims authorized herein for payment:    

 
         TO                                           TO 

FROM:                                                             ACCOUNTS PAYABLE                  PAYROLL     
                                                                                           FUND                                    FUND 
GENERAL FUND  2,702,193.08 
PARKS & RECR FUND  83,507.49 
LANDFILL FUND  23,102.69 
SENIOR AIDES  3,622.78 
WATER/SEWER OPER & MAINT  62,633.74 
PAYROLL  $99,155.92  
HOUSING COMM DEV  4,332.47 
TITLE III AGING PROGRAMS  5,945.96 
TRANSPORTATION FUND  15,909.53 
PEG ACCESS-PROGRAMMING FUND  5,463.73 
2020 SAKI GRAND DOJ  7,405.71 
ZOOLOGICAL PARK  30,891.51 
NLC-MUNICIPAL REIMAGINING 
COMM 

 7,745.57 

TOTAL                                                                                                                      $2,952,754.26 
 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Grizzell, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.  
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

There came on for consideration Agenda Item No. 9: 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING PAYMENT OF MEMBERSHIP FEES TO THE 
AFRICAN AMERICAN MAYOR’S ASSOCIATION. Said item was pulled by the 
Administration. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER CONFIRMING THE MAYOR’S APPOINTMENT OF FLORENE 
KEELER TO THE MUNICIPAL ELECTION COMMISSION.  

 
WHEREAS, the Municipal Election Commission consists of seven (7) members 

nominated by the Mayor for a term of four (4) years; and 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1130 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

WHEREAS, there is a vacant term for Ward 6; and 
 
WHEREAS, Florene Keeler, resident of Ward 6, after evaluation of her qualifications, has 

been appointed by the Mayor to fulfill the vacant term. 
 
IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor’s appointment of Florene Keeler to the 

Municipal Election Commission for Ward 6 to fulfill the vacant term be confirmed with said term 
to expire on June 30, 2025. 

 
Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Grizzell seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
President Banks recognized Safiya Omari, Chief of Staff, who provided a brief overview of said 
item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
President Banks recognized Florene Keeler, who gave her personal statement and answered 
questions posed to her by Council Members. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

After a thorough discussion, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 
Nays – None.  
Absent – None.    

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER APPOINTING GLENDA CAGE BARNER TO THE JACKSON 
CONVENTION AND VISITORS BUREAU AS RESTAURANT AND 
HOSPITALITY ASSOCIATION REPRESENTATIVE.  

 
WHEREAS, during the 2019 Mississippi Legislative Session, local and private legislation, 

namely House Bill 1706, was signed into law, which allows for the reconstitution of the Jackson 
Convention and Visitors Bureau; and 

 
WHEREAS, thereafter the bureau shall consist of nine (9) members, who shall be 

appointed, qualify and take office within ninety (90) days after July 1, 2019, and the appointments 
to the bureau and, if applicable, the initial terms of the appointments made on or after July 1, 2019, 
shall be as follows: (a) the two (2) hotel/motel members representing hotel or motel properties 
located within the city limits of Jackson, Mississippi, who are members of the Capital Center 
Convention Center Commission; (b) the two (2) restaurant members appointed who are members 
of the Capital Center Convention Center Commission; (c) one (1) member representing the 
business community in the City of Jackson appointed by the mayor with confirmation by the 
council for a term of two (2) years. This member and his or her successors shall be appointed by 
the mayor with confirmation by the council after being selected from a panel of two (2) names 
submitted by the Jackson Chamber of Commerce the Jackson Convention and Visitors Bureau 
consist of nine (9) members, for a term of five (5) years; (d) One (1) member representing the arts 
community in the City of Jackson appointed by the mayor with confirmation by the council for a 
term of two (2) years; (e) One (1) member representing the education community appointed by the 
mayor with confirmation by the council for a term of four (4) years; (f) One (1) member 
representing the attractions industry in the City of Jackson appointed by the mayor with 
confirmation by the council for a term of two (2) years. This member and his or her successors 
shall be residents of the City of Jackson appointed by the mayor with confirmation by the council 
after being selected from a panel of two (2) names submitted by the Metro Jackson Attractions 
Association; (g) One (1) at-large member appointed by the mayor with confirmation by the council 
for a term of four (4) years.IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor's appointment of 
Glenda Cage Barner to the Jackson Convention and Visitors Bureau be confirmed with said term 
to expire July 1, 2025. 
 
Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1131 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

President Banks recognized Mayor Chokwe Antar Lumumba, who provided a brief overview 
of said item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
President Banks recognized Glenda Cage Barner, who gave her personal statement and 
answered questions posed to her by Council Members. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

After a thorough discussion, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 
Nays – None.  
Absent – None.    

* * * * * * * * * * * * * 

ORDER RE-APPOINTING MS. MONIQUE DAVIS, EDUCATION COMMUNITY, 
TO THE JACKSON CONVENTION AND VISITORS BUREAU BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS.  
 
WHEREAS, the Jackson Convention and Visitors Bureau Board of Directors consists of 

nine Members, with each serving four-year terms: Two (2) Members representing the Hotel/Motel 
Industry; Two (2) Members representing the Restaurant Industry; One (1) Member representing 
the Business Community; One (1) Member representing the Arts Community; One (1) Member 
representing the Education Community; One (1) Member representing the Attractions Industry; 
and One (1) At-Large-Member; and 

 
WHEREAS, the term of Ms. Monique Davis has expired, thereby creating a vacancy; and 
 
WHEREAS, Ms. Monique Davis, after evaluation of her qualifications, has been 

nominated by the Mayor to fill said vacancy.  
 
IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor's nomination of Ms. Monique Davis 

to the Jackson Convention and Visitors Bureau be confirmed with said term to expire April 21, 
2028. 

 
Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
President Banks recognized Mayor Chokwe Antar Lumumba, who provided a brief overview 
of said item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
President Banks recognized Monique Davis, who gave her personal statement and answered 
questions posed to her by Council Members. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

After a thorough discussion, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 
Nays – None.  
Absent – None.    

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO ENTER INTO AN ENGAGEMENT 
AGREEMENT WITH MSE & ASSOCIATES TO PROVIDE MONIES/FUND 
RECOVERY SERVICES ON BEHALF OF THE CITY OF JACKSON. 
  
WHEREAS, MSE & Associates will engage with the City of Jackson as a representative 

to file claims and forms with the Treasury Department of any State and other government entities 
that are holding monies, funds, or assets that are lawfully and legally owned by the City of Jackson 
or are owed to the City of Jackson; and 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1132 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

WHEREAS, the scope of work includes (1) location of unclaimed monies, funds, or assets 
owed to The City of Jackson, (2) using abilities, experience, and knowhow to recover and return 
monies, funds, etc. to the City of Jackson; and 

 
WHEREAS, either party may terminate the agreement at any time, with or without cause, 

by giving written notice to the other parties of such termination and specifying the effective date 
thereof, at least thirty (30) days before the effective date of such termination; and 

 
WHEREAS, the parties agree that the legal relationship between MSE & Associates and 

the City of Jackson is strictly an independent contractor relationship. Nothing contained in the 
agreement shall be deemed or construed to create a joint venture, agency, partnership, or 
employer-contractor relationship between the Parties. Neither party shall have the power to bind 
the other Party in any manner. Additionally, the City of Jackson shall have no obligation to MSE 
& Associates with respect to the provision of any benefits (insurance, retirement, or the like), nor 
shall the City of Jackson have any responsibility for the payment of any taxes, fees, dues, or 
memberships, workers’ compensation premiums, or the like, which are the sole responsibility of 
MSE & Associates; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Jackson will compensate MSE & Associates for its services as a 

consultant at the rate of twenty percent (20%) of the total monetary value of the monies, 
payments, or funds recovered and returned by MSE & Associates and transmitted, received, and 
deposited into the City of Jackson’s Bank Account. Payment for services rendered is due to MSE& 
Associates within four (4) weeks after the City of Jackson receives its’ recovered funds. 

 
IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor be authorized to enter into an 

engagement agreement with MSE & Associates to provide monies/fund recovery services on 
behalf of the City of Jackson.  
 
Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
President Banks recognized Fidelis Malembeka, Chief Financial Officer, who provided a brief 
overview of said item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

After a thorough discussion, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Grizzell. 
Nays – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lindsay and Stokes.  
Abstention– Lee. 
Absent – None.    
 
Note: Said item failed due to a lack of a majority vote. 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

There came on for consideration Agenda Item No. 14: 
 

ORDER AMENDING THE FISCAL YEAR 2023-2024 BUDGET OF THE CITY OF 
JACKSON TO PROVIDE FOR THE TRANSFER OF FUNDS TO THE CAPITAL 
CITY CONVENTION CENTER. President Banks stated said item would be held until 
later in the meeting.  
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER AMENDING THE FISCAL YEAR 2023-2024 BUDGET OF THE 
DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATION.  
 
WHEREAS, Section 21-35-25 of the Mississippi Code Annotated, as amended, states that 

if it affirmatively appears at any time during the current fiscal year that there is in any fund or 
account any sum remaining unexpended and not needed or expected to be needed for the purpose 
or purposes for which appropriated in said budget, then the governing authorities may, in their 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1133 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

discretion, transfer such sum or any part thereof to any other fund or funds or account or accounts 
where needed, by order to such effect entered upon their minutes. This shall not, however, 
authorize the expenditure of any funds for any purpose other than that for which the levy producing 
such funds was made; and 

 
WHEREAS, since the adoption of the Fiscal Year 2023- 2024 for the City of Jackson 

budget, the Department of Administration and Finance has experienced certain unanticipated 
needs that the department must address; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Department of Administration is completely restructuring the 

department, which includes the creation of the following new positions: Deputy CFO, Liaison (2), 
Procurement Operations Manager, Fixed Asset Manager, Vender Equity Coordinator, and Fiscal 
Operations Manager; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Department of Administration seeks to fund these positions, and it is 

estimated it will amount to Five Hundred Twenty-Four Thousand and Four Hundred Twenty-
Three Dollars and Twenty-Nine Cents ($524,423.29); and 

 
WHEREAS, at this time, the Deputy Chief Financial Officer, Liaison (2), and Fiscal 

Operations Manager are the only positions the Department of Administration recommends the 
governing authority fund because the department will take a phased approach to reorganizing the 
department; and 

 
WHEREAS, therefore, the Department of Administration is requesting to move only Two 

Hundred and Fifty-Nine Thousand and Seven Hundred and Six Dollars and Eighty-Two Cents 
($259,706.82), which will come from account 001.49300.6419. 

 
WHEREAS, the Department of Administration recommends that the governing authority 

amend the Fiscal Year 2023-2024 for the City of Jackson’s budget to provide funding for the 
complete reorganization of the Department of Administration and the Finance Division; and 

WHEREAS, it is the Department of Administration’s goal to establish processes 
undertaken by various departments within the city, mainly operations dealing with procurement 
and accounts payable; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Department of Administration recommends to the governing authority 

for the city to amend its budget, as follows: 
 
 

From Account Amount Account 
Description 

To Account Account 
Description 

Amount 

001.49300.6419  $259,706.82 Other 
Professional 
Services 

001.41140.6111 Salaries $259,706.82 

 
WHEREAS, the estimated amount needed to completely fund a restructure and 

reorganization of the Department of Administration and Finance is $524,423.29, which includes 
the creation of the following new positions: Deputy CFO, Liaison (2), Procurement Operations 
Manager, Fixed Asset Manager, Vender Equity Coordinator, and Fiscal Operations Manager; and 

 
WHEREAS, any amendments made pursuant to this section to an originally adopted 

budget which exceed ten percent (10%) of the total amount appropriated or authorized to be 
expended in a particular department fund shall be published or posted within two (2) weeks of the 
action in a newspaper in the same manner as the final adopted budget. Separate amendments to an 
originally adopted budget during one fiscal year which affect a particular department fund shall be 
considered as one (1) amendment in determining whether the ten percent (10%) threshold requiring 
publication or posting has been reached. This publication or posted notice shall contain a 
description of the amendment, the amount of money and funds affected, and a detailed statement 
explaining the need and purpose of the amendment. The vote of each member of the municipality's 
governing authority on each amendment shall be included in the publication or posted notice; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Department of Administration found that this intradepartmental transfer 

of $259,706.82 is in statutory compliance with Section 21-35-25 of the Mississippi Code 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1134 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

Annotated, as amended, as there have been no other budget amendments or revisions to the fiscal 
year 2023-2024 budget for the Department of Administration and this transfer does not exceed ten 
percent (10%) of the total budget amount appropriated to the department in the fiscal year 2023-
2024 budget. 

 
NOW, IT ISTHEREFORE, ORDERED that the Fiscal Year 2023-2024 budget be 

revised for the Department of Administration as follows: 
 

From Account Account 
Description 

Amount To Account Account 
Description 

Amount 

001.49300.6419  Other 
Professional 
Services 

$259,706.82 001.41140.6111 Salaries $259,706.82 

 
Council Member Grizzell moved adoption;  Council Member Banks seconded. 
                                                          
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 
Nays – None. 
Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE PAYMENT OF THE SUM OF $1,225.00 TO PSI 
SERVICES LLC FOR TESTING FEES ASSOCIATED WITH THE FEDERAL 
AVIATION ADMINISTRATION UNMANNED AIRCRAFT EXAMINATION OF 
OFFICERS.  
 
WHEREAS, Section 21-17-5 of the Mississippi Code authorizes the governing authorities 

of a municipality to adopt any orders with respect to municipal affairs which is not inconsistent 
with the Mississippi Constitution of 1890, the Mississippi Code of 1972, or any other statute or 
law of the State of Mississippi; and 

 
WHEREAS, the protection of life and property through effective law enforcement is a 

municipal affair; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Jackson had seven (7) officers to attend instruction in Part 107 of 

the Federal Aviation Administration related to the operation of unmanned aircrafts commonly 
referred to as drones at Hinds Community College during the period September 13-September 16, 
2023; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Federal Aviation Administrator certifies individuals to operate unmanned 

aircrafts upon successful completion of the Unmanned Aircraft General small exam (UAG); and 
 
WHEREAS, drones have been used to assist law enforcement agencies in collecting 

evidence, conducting surveillance, photographing traffic crash scenes, controlling crowds, and 
tracking prison escapees; and 

 
WHEREAS, PSI Services LLC, whose address is 611 North Brand Boulevard, Glendale 

California 91203 has indicated that it can administer the test for the officers of the Jackson Police 
Department at a cost of $175.00 for each officer; and 

 
WHEREAS, the testing will occur at Hinds Community College in Raymond, Mississippi; 

and 
 
WHEREAS, the total monies to be paid PSI Services LLC for the testing is $1,225.00 

($175 x 7); and 
 
WHEREAS, authorizing the payment to PSI Services LLC for the testing fees is not 

inconsistent with the Mississippi Constitution of 1890, the Mississippi code of 1972 or any statute 
or law of the State of Mississippi; and 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1135 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

WHEREAS, a proper municipal purpose will be served by paying for the testing in 
contemplation of the officers receiving FAA certification; and 

 
WHEREAS, PSI Services submitted Invoice # 04-22514151 to the City of Jackson for 

seven (7) vouchers related to the test; and 
 
WHEREAS, the best interest of the City of Jackson would be served by authorizing the 

payment of $1,225.00 consistent with Invoice # 04-22514151 for the seven (7) vouchers. 
 
IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Invoice # 04-225-14151 in the amount of $1,225.00 may 

be paid for the seven (7) testing vouchers. 
 

Council Member Stokes moved adoption;  Council Member Grizzell seconded. 
        _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 
President Banks recognized Vincent Grizzell, Assistant Chief of the Jackson Police 
Department, who provided a brief overview of said item. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

After a thorough discussion, President Banks called for a vote on said item:                                                        

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER ACCEPTING QUOTE OF QUALITY RECORDING SOLUTIONS FOR 
EQUIPMENT AND SOFTWARE RELATED TO 911 RECORDINGS WITH 
PLAYBACK AVAILABILITY.  
 
WHEREAS, equipment and software for 911 recordings with playback availability is 

needed in the City of Jackson’s 911 Communication’s Center; and 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 31-7-13(e) of the Mississippi Code, a municipality may 

acquire equipment and related software by lease/purchase agreement from a third-party source 
after having solicited and obtained two (2) written competitive bids for such financing without 
advertising for the bids at any time before the purchase thereof; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Jackson Police Department solicited and received a quote from Quality 

Recording Solutions, LLC related to the purchase of the equipment, support services, and cloud 
storage containing the following term $8,755.00 per year for five-year commitment; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Jackson Police Department received a second written quote from Stancil 

Corporation for the purchase of the equipment, support services, and cloud storage which 
contained the following term: 

 
5- year program including hardware, software and maintenance at $10,833.00 per year or 

$54,166.00; and 
 
WHEREAS, Quality Recording Solutions LLC has an address of 425 East Crossville 

Road, Ste 207 Roswell, GA 30075; and 
 
WHEREAS, the quote provided by Quality Recording Solutions LLC expires 90 days 

from February 13, 2024; and 
            
WHEREAS, the quote from Quality Recording Solutions LLC included the following 

additional provisions:  (a) Can be renewed on an annual basis after the  initial 5 year commitment; 
(b) Installation to be provided by QRS to customer installed RJ21X or 66 Block; (c) Customer’s 
radio, telephone, CAD, and mapping vendors should provide the proper inputs identified and 
terminated within 6 feet of the recorder’s physical location prior to installation by QRS; (d) 
Additional charges may apply if the VoIP codec is anything other than G.711 PCM codec; (  e) 
Audio needs to be unencrypted; (f) Service if needed may be obtained by calling (877)733-7771 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1136 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

extension 2; (g) Equipment will be ordered and installed 30 days ARO unless agreed upon 
otherwise in which a written letter with requested install date will be required; (h) Payment terms 
are net 30 days from invoice or installation; (i) Customer is responsible for insuring the necessary 
3rd party licensing, installation, and integration work is completed by other vendors; (j) If the end 
user is not ready for the installation on the agreed upon date, the system will be shipped to end 
user and invoice will be sent for 50% of total purchase price.  Upon completion of the install and 
training, the remaining balance will be invoiced; and  

            
WHEREAS, the quote from Quality Recording Solutions is the lowest and best quote 

received for the equipment and software; and 
 
WHEREAS, the best interest of the City of Jackson would be served by accepting the 

quote of Quality Recording Solutions. 
            
IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the quote received from Quality Recording Solutions 

may be accepted. 
 
IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the annual payment of $8,755.00 per year for the five-

year commitment period may be made upon receipt of the billing.  The total sum paid for the five-
year commitment period may not exceed $43,775.00. 

            
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute any documents 

necessary to fulfill the purpose of this order provided it does not obligate any additional monetary 
expense(s) to the City of Jackson. 

 
Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 
                                                          
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER ACCEPTING THE BID OF KIRK AUTO WORLD, INC. TO PURCHASE 
2022-2025 POLICE PURSUIT VEHICLES FOR TWELVE (12) MONTHS TO BE 
USED BY THE CITY OF JACKSON POLICE DEPARTMENT, (BID NO. 07100-
020624).  
 
WHEREAS, on February 06, 2024, the Purchasing Department opened one (1) bid on 

behalf of the Jackson Police Department to purchase 2022-2025 Police Pursuit Vehicles for twelve 
(12) months; and 

 
WHEREAS, Kirk Auto World, Inc., with its principal office at 1463 Commerce Street, 

Grenada, MS 38901, submitted the following bid: 
 
1.       2023 or 2024 RAM SSV 1500                                                  $ 43,500.00 

2.       2023 FORD EXPLORER PPV                                                $ 43,900.00 

3.       2023 FORD F-150 4X4 XL                                                      $ 47,990.00 

4.       2023 DODGE DURANGO ADMIN V-8                                 $ 42,188.00 

5.       2023 DODGE CHARGER PPV – V8                                      $ 37,900.00 

 
WHEREAS  ̧ the Purchasing Department recommends that the governing authorities for 

the city accept Kirk Auto World, Inc.’s bid as the best and lowest bid for Police Pursuit Vehicles 
beginning upon the approval of the governing authority for a twelve (12) month period; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Jackson Police Department reviewed said bids and recommends that the 

governing authority for the city of Jackson accept said bid. 
 
IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the bid of Kirk Auto World, Inc. received on February 

06, 2024, for 2022-2025 police pursuit vehicles for the aforementioned make, model, and price, 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1137 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

be accepted as the lowest and best bid received, after being determined that said bid met the 
specifications and that no other bid was received. 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the payment for said police pursuit vehicles shall be 

made from the General Fund (001.442.40.6868). 
 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption;  Council Member Lindsay seconded. 
        _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 
President Banks recognized Vincent Grizzell, Assistant Chief of the Jackson Police 
Department, who provided a brief overview of said item. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

After a thorough discussion, President Banks called for a vote on said item:                                                          

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER AMENDING THE MARCH 29, 2022 ORDER AUTHORIZING THE 
MAYOR TO EXECUTE A MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN 
RUSSELL C. DAVIS PLANETARIUM AND STORAGEMAX FOR LEASE OF A 
STORAGE UNIT TO INCLUDE THE SUBSTANTIVE PROVISION OF THE 
RENTAL AGREEMENT AND AUTHORIZE PAYMENT OF EIGHT HUNDRED 
AND TWENTY-TWO DOLLARS AND NO CENTS ($822.00).  
 
WHEREAS, the Department of Human Cultural Services recommends that the governing 

authorities for the city of Jackson amend the March 29, 2022 order authorizing the mayor to 
execute a MOU between Russell C. Davis Planetarium and Storagemax for lease of a storage unit 
to clarify the substantive provisions in the Rental Agreement; and 

 
WHEREAS, the March 29th order represented that the parties were entering into a twenty-

four (24) month contract at a cost not to exceed $4,796.00; however, the Rental Agreement states, 
“the term of the tenancy shall commence on the date first written above (June 1, 2022), and 
shall continue from the first day of the month immediately following on a month-to-month 
basis”; and 

 
WHEREAS, rent is the sum of $218.00 per month; therefore, the cost of rent shall not 

exceed $2,616.00 per year; and 
 
WHEREAS, rent shall be delinquent if not paid no later than forty-five (45) days as 

contemplated in Section 31-7-305 of the Mississippi Code, as amended.; and 
 
WHEREAS, the owner may change the rent or any other charge or fee by giving the city 

thirty (30) days’ advance written notice. The new rent shall become effective on the first day of 
the next month the rent is due; and 

 
WHEREAS, on August 26, 2022, the Department of Human and Cultural Services 

received a Notice of Rent Change that StorageMax were implementing a slight rate increase 
effective October 1, 2022, from $218.00 to $230.00; and 

 
WHEREAS, on January 4, 2024, StorageMax sent a Notice of Lien Enforcement for 

unpaid rent from October 1, 2023, to January 1, 2024, and a lien fee for an amount of $897.00; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, StorageMax is willing to waive the $75.00 lien fee once the governing 

authorities authorize payment; therefore, the Department of Human and Cultural Services 
recommends authoring payment of $822.00 for unpaid rent from October 1, 2023, to January 2, 
2024; and 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1138 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

WHEREAS, the term of the Agreement is month-to-month, and the Agreement will 
automatically renew at the end of each monthly term on a month-to-month basis until written 
notice of termination is provided by either party. Thirty (30) days’ advance written notice given 
by the Owner or Occupant to the other party will terminate the tenancy; and 

 
WHEREAS, a copy of the Rental Agreement is attached and made part of the minutes. 
 
IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Department of Human and Cultural Services 

is authorized to pay outstanding fees of $822.00 to StorageMax for unpaid rent. 
 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the governing authorities for the City authorize the 

Department of Human and Cultural Services to make payment in accordance with the terms of the 
Rental Agreement as presented and attached in this order.   

 

  
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1139 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1140 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1141 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1142 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1143 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1144 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1145 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1146 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1147 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption;  Council Member Lindsay seconded. 
                                                          
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 
Nays – None. 
Abstention– Stokes.  
Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER RATIFYING AND AUTHORIZING THE PAYMENT OF TWO 
HUNDRED AND FORTY-THREE DOLLARS ($243.00) TO TRIO COMMUNITY 
MEALS FOR FOOD AND BEVERAGES PROVIDED TO SPECIAL GUESTS 
DURING THE ANNUAL SENIOR APPRECIATION DAY.  
 
WHEREAS, Section 17-3-1 of the Mississippi Code authorizes the mayor and board of 

aldermen or board of commissioners of any municipality in the State of Mississippi to expend 
money not to exceed one mill of their respective valuation and assessment for the purpose of 
advertising and bringing favorable notice of the opportunities, possibilities, and resources of the 
municipality; and 

 
WHEREAS, Section 17-3-3 of the Mississippi Code states that advertising includes 

expositions, public entertainment, or other forms of advertising or publicity which in the judgment 
of such board or boards will be helpful toward advancing the moral, financial, and other interests 
of the municipality; and 

 
WHEREAS, Annual Senior Appreciation Day is held each May in observance of Older 

Americans Month; and 
 
WHEREAS, on Wednesday, May 18, 2022, the City of Jackson Department of Human 

and Cultural Services Senior Services Division hosted its annual Senior Appreciation Day to 
acknowledge the numerous contributions of its senior citizens; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Department of Human and Cultural Services, the Senior Services 

Division, paired with special guests from the Lower Ninth Ward Senior Center in New Orleans, 
Louisiana, to host the Annual Senior Appreciation Day in the city to advance the moral and other 
interests of the city of Jackson and to promote Jackson and to bring into favorable notice the 
opportunities, possibilities, and resources of the city; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Department of Human and Cultural Services Senior Services Division 

recommends that the governing authority for the city of Jackson find that the payment of Two 
Hundred and Forty-Three Dollars ($243.00) to TRIO Community Meals for food and beverages 
provided to the special guests during the Annual Senior Appreciation Day advertised and brought 
favorable notice to the opportunities and resources of the city of Jackson, and; therefore, the mayor 
is authorized under Section 17-3-1 to expend such funds; and  
 

WHEREAS, TRIO Community Meal’s invoice is as follows: 
 

Date Items Qty Price Total 
05/18/2022 Beverages 100.00 $.3300 $33.00 
05/18/2022 Picnic Lunches 60.00 $3.5000 $210.00  

Total Charges Due: 
 

$243.00 
 

 
IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the governing authorities for the city of Jackson find 

that the payment of Two Hundred and Forty-Three Dollars ($243.00) to TRIO Community Meals 
for food and beverages provided to the special guests during the 2022 Annual Senior Appreciation 
Day in the city was to promote networking with other senior centers and brought favorable notice 
to the city of Jackson. 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the payment is authorized and shall be taken from the 

General Fund. 
 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1148 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption;  Council Member Lindsay seconded.                                 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER RATIFYING PAST PLUMBING SERVICES AND REPAIR WORK 
PERFORMED BY UNITED PLUMBING & HEATING COMPANY AND 
APPROVING PAYMENT FOR SAME FOR EMERGENCY PLUMBING 
REPAIRS PERFORMED AT THE PETE BROWN GOLF FACILITY IN THE 
TOTAL AMOUNT OF SIX THOUSAND SIX HUNDRED AND SIXTY-SIX 
DOLLARS ($6,666.00).  
 
WHEREAS, the City of Jackson owns the Pete Brown Golf Course located at 3200 

Woodrow Wilson Avenue, Jackson, Mississippi; and 

WHEREAS, United Plumbing and Heating Company (United Plumbing) provided 
emergency repair services to several water leaks in pipes connected to the golf course’s sprinkler 
system; and 

WHEREAS, United Plumbing is an active vendor (vendor number 69412) with the City 
of Jackson; and 

WHEREAS, United Plumbing is a Mississippi for-profit corporation created pursuant to 
the Laws of the State of Mississippi on October 19, 1973, and is currently in good standing with 
the Mississippi Secretary of State; and 

WHEREAS, the first water leak, located on the driving range, was repaired on March 1, 
2023; and 

WHEREAS, United Plumbing submitted Invoice No. I011938-2 to the Parks and 
Recreation Department in the amount of two thousand five hundred dollars ($2,500.00) for the 
plumbing repairs made on March 1, 2023; and 

WHEREAS, the second water leak, located on hole number 12 next to the green, was 
repaired on August 18, 2023; and 

WHEREAS, United Plumbing, while investigating the leak on hole number 12, also 
located a broken water main, United Plumbing made repairs to said water main; and   

WHEREAS, United Plumbing submitted Invoice No. I012872-1 to the Parks and 
Recreation Department in the amount of two thousand four hundred seventy-nine dollars 
($2,479.00) for the plumbing repairs made on August 18, 2023; and 

WHEREAS, on August 21, 2023, United Plumbing returned to hole number 12 and 
completed further repairs to the water line thereby completing the work; and 

WHEREAS, United Plumbing submitted Invoice No. I012872-2 to the Parks and 
Recreation Department in the amount of one thousand six hundred eighty-seven dollars (1,687.00) 
for the plumbing repairs made on August 21, 2023; and 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the City of Jackson that the above-described 
professional plumbing services provided by United Plumbing be ratified and that payments for 
said services be approved and made to United Plumbing (vendor number 69412).  

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that United Plumbing’s professional plumbing services 
described above, and detailed in the submitted invoices, is ratified. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that payment in the total amount of six thousand six 
hundred sixty-six dollars ($6,666.00) be made to United Plumbing (vendor number 69412) for the 
above-described plumbing services made at the Pete Brown Golf Facility and that payment shall 
be made in the manner described below: 

1.  Payment in the amount of four thousand one hundred sixty-six dollars ($4,166.00) for 
other repairs and maintenance is to be made from account number 005-504.30-6317; and 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1149 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

2.  Payment in the amount of two thousand five hundred dollars ($2,500.00) for professional 
services is to be made from account number 005-504.30-6419. 

Vice President Lee moved adoption;  Council Member Lindsay seconded. 
        _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 
President Banks recognized Abram Muhammad, Director of Parks and Recreation and 
Mayor Chokwe Antar Lumumba, who provided a brief overview of said item. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

After a thorough discussion, President Banks called for a vote on said item:                                                          

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER REQUESTING APPROVAL TO RATIFY INVOICES AND PAYMENTS 
FOR A HVAC SYSTEM AND OTHER OPERATING SUPPLIES PROVIDED TO 
AND INSTALLED BY CITY OF JACKSON CARE MAINTENANCE DIVISION, 
TO ACME REFRIGERATION, LLC. IN THE AMOUNT OF SEVEN THOUSAND 
SEVEN HUNDRED FIVE DOLLARS AND THIRTY CENTS ($7,705.30) AT THE 
JACKSON ZOO.  
 
WHEREAS, Acme Refrigeration, LLC. (Acme Refrigeration) is an active vendor (no. 

69978) with the City of Jackson; and 

WHEREAS, Acme Refrigeration is a Limited Liability Company created pursuant to the 
Laws of the State of Mississippi on May 05, 2021, and is currently in Good Standing with the 
Mississippi Secretary of State; and 

WHEREAS, Acme Refrigerator quoted and provided a HVAC system and other operating 
supplies to the City of Jackson Care Maintenance Division to be installed and operating at the 
Jackson Zoo; and    

WHEREAS, on June 01, 2023 Acme Refrigeration invoiced (S769908) the Jackson Zoo for 
a Mitsubishi MUZ-GS30NA-U1 30,000 BTU/H Heat Pump Outdoor Unit and Wall Mount with 
fifty-five dollars and fifty-nine cents ($55.59) surcharge, totaling two thousand eight hundred thirty-
four dollars and eighty-three cents ($2,834.83); and 

WHEREAS, a requisition was not submitted for a purchase order for the HVAC system and 
wall mount listed on Acme Refrigeration’s invoice no. S769908; and 

WHEREAS, on June 01, 2023 Acme Refrigeration invoiced (S882741) the Jackson Zoo for 
operating supplies (such as refrigerant, line sets, round caps, etc.), which was approved for purchase 
by the City of Jackson Purchasing Department with purchase order no. 23001311 in the amount of 
two thousand five hundred forty-two dollars and thirty-three cents ($2,542.33), including a 
surcharge of forty-nine dollars and eighty-five ($49.85); and 

WHEREAS, purchase order no. 23001311 was closed out by the Department, due to the 
invoice not being submitted by Acme Refrigeration to the Parks and Recreation Department within 
the closed of FY2023 Budget; and 

WHEREAS, on June 12, 2023 Acme Refrigeration invoiced (S877364) the Jackson Zoo for 
operating supplies (such as nitrogen, a core kit, round caps, filter, etc.), in the amount of two 
thousand three hundred twenty-eight dollars and fourteen cents ($2,328.14), including a surcharge 
of forty-five dollars and sixty-five ($45.65); and 

WHEREAS, a requisition was not submitted for a purchase order for the operating supplies 
listed on Acme Refrigeration’s invoice no. S877364; and 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the City of Jackson that the payment for the above-
described HVAC system and other operating supplies be approved and made to Acme Refrigeration, 
LLC (vendor no. 69978).  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1150 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the payment in the total amount of seven thousand seven 
hundred five dollars and thirty cents ($7,705.30) be made to Acme Refrigeration, LLC (vendor no. 
69978) for the above-described HVAC system and other operating supplies provided to and 
installed at the Jackson Zoo and that payment shall be made in the manner described below: 

1. Payment in the amount of two thousand seven hundred seventy-nine dollars and twenty-
four cents ($2,779.24) for a HVAC system to be made from account number 390-498.00-
6240; and 

2. Payment in the amount of four thousand seven hundred seventy-four dollars and ninety-
seven cents ($4,774.97) for the operating supplies be made from account number 390-
498.00-6299; and 

3. Payment in the amount of one hundred fifty-one dollars and nine cents ($151.09) for 
surcharges to be made from account number 390-498.00-6422. 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption;  Council Member Hartley seconded. 
                                                          
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

ORDER REQUESTING THE APPROVAL OF PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 
FROM “CLEAR CUT FORESTRY MULCHING” RELATED TO THE CUTTING, 
REMOVING, AND CLEARING OF DEBRIS AT LIVINGSTON PARK.  
 
WHEREAS, Livingston Park has several areas in need of maintenance/landscaping, such 

as the removal of excess vegetation, bushes, vines, and small trees; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Parks and Recreation Department requested a quote from Clear Cut 

Forestry Mulching (Clear Cut) and Four Seasons Enterprise LLC (Four Seasons) for the 
maintenance/landscaping described above; and 

 
WHEREAS, Clear Cut provided the Parks and Recreation Department a quote totaling ten 

thousand dollars ($10,000.00); and 
 
WHEREAS, Four Seasons provided the Parks and Recreation Department a quote totaling 

twenty-eight thousand six hundred and fifty dollars ($28,650.00); and 
 
WHEREAS, the Parks and Recreation Department accepted Clear Cut’s quote because it 

was the lowest of the two; and 
 
WHEREAS, Clear Cut is an active vendor with the City of Jackson (vendor number 

401325); and 
 
WHEREAS, Clear Cut is a Limited Liability Company, currently in Good Standing with 

the Mississippi Secretary of the State, created pursuant to the Laws of the State of Mississippi on 
June 1, 2015; and 

 
WHEREAS, Clear Cut’s quote included the following scope of work to be performed at 

Livingston Park: (1) clear all vegetation, bushes, vines, and small trees up to six (6) inches in 
diameter located around the pond (in areas where equipment can be used without becoming stuck) 
and (2) cut and remove crepe myrtle trees and grind all crepe myrtle stumps on the west side of 
the park’s main entrance; and 

 
WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the City of Jackson that Clear Cut be approved to 

perform the above-described maintenance/landscaping work in Livingston Park to provide a clean 
and safe environment for park patrons and that prompt payment be made to Clear Cut for its 
services. 

 
IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Clear Cut’s above-described quote for 

maintenance/landscaping work to be performed at Livingston Park is approved and that payment 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1151 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

in the amount of ten thousand dollars ($10,000.00) be made to Clear Cut from account number 
401-501.30-6419. 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute any document(s) 

needed to effectuate the above professional services that are to be performed by Clear Cut. 
 

Vice President Lee moved adoption;  Council Member Hartley seconded. 
                                                          
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER REQUESTING THE MAYOR’S EXECUTION OF A FACILITY USE 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON AND LEAVELL WOODS-
SYKES BASEBALL ASSOCIATION INC FOR THE NON-EXCLUSIVE USE OF 
CERTAIN BASEBALL FIELDS LOCATED AT LEAVELL WOODS PARK.  
 
WHEREAS, the City of Jackson owns public property located at 347 Dona Drive, 

Jackson, Mississippi which is commonly referred to as Leavell Woods Park; and 
 
WHEREAS, Leavell Woods Park has certain fields that may be utilized for baseball-

related activities; and 
 
WHEREAS, Leavell Woods-Sykes Association Inc. (Association) is a non-profit 

corporation, currently in Good Standing with the Mississippi Secretary of State, created pursuant 
to the Laws of the State of Mississippi on March 16, 1984; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Jackson acknowledges Eric Barbour as the current President of 

the Association; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Association would like to utilize the City’s baseball fields located at 

Leavell Woods Park for practice and other baseball-related activities; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Jackson requires, and the Association has in place, a liability 

insurance policy with the City of Jackson listed as an additional insured and the Association agrees 
to maintain this insurance for the duration of the agreement; and 

 
WHEREAS, Section 21-27-1 of the Mississippi Code prohibits a municipality from 

granting to a person, firm, or corporation the exclusive right to use or occupy public places; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Jackson is authorized by law to grant the Association with a non-

exclusive right to use its baseball facilities; and 
 
WHEREAS, the parties have reached an agreement concerning the use of the public 

municipal facilities located at Leavell Woods Park (Facility Use Agreement); and 
 
WHEREAS, the Association shall have the non-exclusive use of certain baseball fields 

located at Leavell Woods Park from the date of the Mayor’s execution of the Facility Use 
Agreement until and including December 31, 2024; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City does not grant the Association exclusive of the Leavell Woods Park 

baseball fields and does not favor the Association over other similarly situated organizations or 
groups; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Association agrees and understands that other similarly situated 

organizations or groups may be granted use of the baseball fields upon the same or similar terms 
as the Association’s use; and 

            
WHEREAS, the Association will not make permanent physical improvements to the 

facilities prior to obtaining written consent from the Director of the Department of Parks and 
Recreation; and 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1152 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

WHEREAS, the Association agrees that should any permanent physical improvements be 
agreed upon by the City and the Association, the Association shall make any such physical 
improvements in accordance with all applicable building, plumbing, gas, and electrical codes of 
the City and that any such improvements to the facilities shall thereafter become the property of 
the City; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Association may charge and collect a reasonable admission fee for 

attendance to its baseball events which shall be used to cover the costs of the Association’s 
personnel, participant uniforms, equipment, and other such expenses incurred by the Association 
in the operations of its baseball activities; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Association shall arrange for the attendance and compensation of any 

referees and officials, or any other such person, for its baseball activities and shall ensure that any 
such personnel have the required certifications and/or qualifications to coach, officiate, and 
manage baseball games and activities; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City may, at any time, enter the facilities to care for, inspect, or manage 

the same; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City may, in its sole discretion, cut grass, repair, and perform 

maintenance at the facilities but has no contractual obligation to the Association to perform said 
work; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Association expressly releases the City, its agents, officers, and 

employees from any claim(s) of damage, or actual damage, to persons or property arising out of 
the performance of this Agreement and indemnifies the City against all damages, liabilities, 
expenses, and losses incurred by the City because of the Association’s performance, or 
nonperformance, of this Agreement; and 

 
WHEREAS, this Agreement may be terminated by either party upon giving thirty (30) 

days written notice to the other party; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Association shall comply with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 

(P.L. 88-352) and all requirements imposed by or pursuant to that title such that the Association 
agrees that it shall not, on the grounds of race, color, age, sex, religion, handicap, or national origin, 
exclude a person from participation in its activities at the facilities; and 

 
WHEREAS, it is of great value to the City of Jackson to have its children engaged in 

organized sporting/outdoor activities in that it provides benefits to the children’s physical and 
mental health and assists in building camaraderie and the development of teamwork skills; and 

           
WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the City of Jackson for the Mayor to execute the 

Facility Use Agreement described in the Order above.  
 
IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a non-exclusive 

Facility Use Agreement between the City and the Association for the use of baseball facilities 
located at Leavell Woods Park for a term running from the date of the Mayor’s signature until and 
including December 31, 2024; and 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute any document(s) 

needed to effectuate the above-described Facility Use Agreement. 
 

Council Member Banks moved adoption;  Council Member Grizzell seconded. 
                                                          
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER REQUESTING RATIFICATION OF PAST PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 
AND APPROVING PAYMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF ONE HUNDRED AND 
FIFTY DOLLARS ($150.00) TO INTEGRATED PEST CONTROL MAINTENANCE 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1153 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

LLC FOR EMERGENCY PEST CONTROL SERVICES PERFORMED AT BOTH 
CHAMPION AND SYKES GYMNASIUMS.  

 
  WHEREAS, the Parks and Recreation Department opened both Champion and Sykes 

Gymnasiums to citizens for use as shelters during the January 2024 freeze; and 

WHEREAS, Champion and Sykes Gymnasiums were used as shelters for approximately 
six (6) days; and 

WHEREAS, both gymnasiums were filled to capacity; and 

WHEREAS, the Parks and Recreation Department requested that Integrated Pest Control 
Maintenance LLC (Integrated Pest) provide pest control services at both facilities after they were no 
longer in use as shelters; and   

WHEREAS, Integrated Pest is an active vendor (vendor number 69106) with the City of 
Jackson; and 

WHEREAS, Integrated Pest is a Limited Lability Company created pursuant to the Laws 
of the State of Mississippi on March 28, 2012, and is currently in Good Standing with the 
Mississippi Secretary of State; and 

WHEREAS, Integrated Pest has an agreement approved by the City Council and executed 
by the Mayor to maintain commercial pest control services at seventeen (17) Parks and Recreation 
facilities on a monthly or bi-monthly basis; and 

WHEREAS, Integrated Pest’s services provided at the gymnasiums described above fall 
outside of the agreed upon regularly scheduled pest control services; and 

WHEREAS, Integrated Pest provided an invoice (invoice number 62821) to the Parks and 
Recreation Department for pest control services performed at Sykes Gymnasium on January 23, 2024, 
in the amount of seventy-five dollars ($75.00); and 

WHEREAS, Integrated Pest provided an invoice (invoice number 62822) to the Parks and 
Recreation Department for pest control services performed at Champion Gymnasium on January 23, 
2024, in the amount of seventy-five dollars ($75.00); and 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the City of Jackson that the above-described 
professional pest control services be ratified, and that payment be approved and made to Integrated 
Pest. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the above-described professional pest control services 
performed by Integrated Pest are ratified and that payment in the total amount of one hundred fifty 
dollars ($150.00) is approved and shall be made to Integrated Pest (vendor number 69106) in the 
manner described below: 

1. Payment in the amount of one hundred fifty dollars ($150.00) for commercial pest 
control services to be made from account number 005-501.10-6419. 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption;  Council Member Hartley seconded. 
                                                          
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A PROFESSIONAL 
SERVICES PURCHASE ORDER REQUEST AND RATIFY SERVICES 
PROVIDED BY STAFFERS FOR TEMPORARY STAFFING SERVICES TO THE 
DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT.  

 
WHEREAS, on August 30, 2022, the Jackson City Council authorized the Mayor to 

execute a contract with Staffers to secure temporary staffing service for City Departments; and 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1154 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

  WHEREAS, the Department of Planning and Development notified the Department of 
Human Resources for a need for staffing services; and  
 

WHEREAS, Staffers provided the Department of Planning and Development with an 
employee to provide temporary staffing services, and the 2022 contract expired in September 
2023; and  
 

WHEREAS, the OED temporary employee continued to perform duties; and  
 

WHEREAS, on September 26, 2023, the Jackson City Council authorized the Mayor to 
execute a new contract with Staffers to secure temporary staffing service for City Departments; 
and  
 

WHEREAS, Staffers has provided the Department four invoices totaling Two Thousand 
Three Hundred Nineteen Dollars and Seventy-five Cents ($2,319.75) for services rendered; and 
 

  WHEREAS, it is the Department's intention to provide a professional service purchase 
order to Staffers for services rendered after the expiration of the 2022 contract and prior to the 
execution of the 2023 contract; and  
 

WHEREAS, the total amount of the purchase order is Two Thousand Three Hundred 
Nineteen Dollars and Seventy-five Cents ($2,319.75), which will be covered by the CDBG-CV 
budget. 
  

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a professional 
services purchase order with Staffers for the temporary staffing services rendered. 
 
  IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the total amount expended to Staffers during the term 
of this professional services purchase order shall not exceed Two Thousand Three Hundred 
Nineteen Dollars and Seventy-five Cents ($2,319.75). 
 
Vice President Lee moved adoption;  Council Member Grizzell seconded. 
                                                          
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE CONTRACTS BETWEEN 
THE CITY OF JACKSON AND MULTI-CON, INC FOR THE USE OF CDBG 
FUNDS TO IMPLEMENT HOUSING REPAIR ACTIVITIES TO SATISFY 
COMPONENTS OF THE LIMITED REPAIR PROGRAM IN THE 
DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING  

 
WHEREAS, 2019 and 2022 Annual Action plans have collectively allocated one million 

nineteen thousand twenty-seven dollars and eighty-six cents ($1,019,727.86) for the Office of 
Housing and Community Development’s limited repair program for eligible households in the city 
of Jackson; and 

WHEREAS, on April 28, 2023 the Office of Housing and Community Development 
received three (3) quotes from qualified, licensed, and certified contractors, to complete electrical, 
mechanical, plumbing, interior general, exterior general renovations of the property located 
at 1623 Wood Street Jackson, MS 39203; and 

WHEREAS, on May 23, 2023, the city received a letter of acceptance from Multi-Con, 
Inc. accepting the award amount of seventy-four thousand six hundred ninety-seven 
($74,697) for 1623 Wood Street Jackson, MS 39203. 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the total amount shall not exceed seventy-four 
thousand six hundred ninety-seven ($74,697) for the entire project, this amount includes any 
authorized change orders which cannot exceed Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000.00) per bid with 
the proper supporting documentation evidencing a need. 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1155 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute any and all 
documents necessary to enter into an Agreement with Multi-Con, Inc. for the use of general funds 
for the repair of one property located at 1623 Wood Street Jackson, MS 39203. 

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption;  Council Member Grizzell seconded. 
        _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 
President Banks recognized Reginald Jefferson, Deputy Director of Housing and 
Community Development, who provided a brief overview of said item. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

President Banks recognized Vice President Lee who moved; seconded by Council Member 
Lindsay to amend said item in the 1st WHEREAS to change “one million nineteen thousand 
twenty-seven dollars and eighty-six cents” to “one million nineteen thousand seven hundred 
twenty-seven dollars and eighty-six cents”. The motion prevailed by the following vote: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 
Nays – None.  
Absent – None.                     _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
  
Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on said item as amended: 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE CONTRACTS BETWEEN 
THE CITY OF JACKSON AND MULTI-CON, INC. FOR THE USE OF CDBG 
FUNDS TO IMPLEMENT HOUSING REPAIR ACTIVITIES TO SATISFY 
COMPONENTS OF THE LIMITED REPAIR PROGRAM IN THE 
DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING.  
 
WHEREAS, 2019 and 2022 Annual Action plans have collectively allocated one million 

nineteen thousand seven hundred twenty-seven dollars and eighty-six cents ($1,019,727.86) for 
the Office of Housing and Community Development’s limited repair program for eligible 
households in the city of Jackson; and 

WHEREAS, on April 28, 2023 the Office of Housing and Community Development 
received three (3) quotes from qualified, licensed, and certified contractors, to complete electrical, 
mechanical, plumbing, interior general, exterior general renovations of the property located 
at 1623 Wood Street Jackson, MS 39203; and 

WHEREAS, on May 23, 2023, the city received a letter of acceptance from Multi-Con, 
Inc. accepting the award amount of seventy-four thousand six hundred ninety-seven dollars and 
zero cents ($74,697.00) for 1623 Wood Street Jackson, MS 39203. 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the total amount shall not exceed seventy-four 
thousand six hundred ninety-seven dollars and zero cents ($74,697.00) for the entire project, this 
amount includes any authorized change orders which cannot exceed Five Thousand Dollars 
($5,000.00) per bid with the proper supporting documentation evidencing a need. 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute any and all 
documents necessary to enter into an Agreement with Multi-Con, Inc. for the use of general funds 
for the repair of one property located at 1623 Wood Street Jackson, MS 39203. 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO AMEND THE EXECUTED 
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON 
AND THE NATIONAL LEAGUE OF CITIES INSTITUTE SOUTHERN CITIES 
ECONOMIC INCLUSION INITIATIVE.  

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1156 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson’s Office of Economic Development (OED) requires 
information, management, and technical assistance to help design and implement local economic 
inclusion strategies that close racial and economic equity gaps for residents and businesses of 
color; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson seeks to increase its levels of Minority Business 
Enterprise (MBE) participation in the procurement of goods and services; and 
 

WHEREAS, the OED has a variety of resources available to assist minority business 
owners in increasing their capacity through the provision of management, information, and 
technical assistance; and 
 

WHEREAS, the National League of Cities Institute (NLCI) Southern Cities Economic 
Inclusion Initiative (SCEI) is available to assist the City of Jackson in deepening local capacity, 
building leadership skills to support strategy development and implementation based on economic 
inclusion, and assessing strategies and policies to create greater economic opportunity and 
resilience for communities of color; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City will be required to share data with NLCI-SCEI to support its 
initiative goals, which includes completing an Economic Inclusion Agreement, planning a 
proposed budget, attending monthly cohort calls, securing the local grant match, submitting an 
Interim Grant Report, submitting a Final Report, attending the NLCI-SCEI all-city Summit, and 
convening a group of partners interested in growing Jackson’s economy, creating job growth, and 
creating economic revitalization throughout Jackson’s neighborhoods; and 
 

WHEREAS, on July 19, 2022, the Jackson City Council authorized the execution of a 
Memorandum of Understanding with NLC-SCEI accepting Thirty Thousand Dollars and Zero 
Cents ($30,000.00) for project planning, implementation, and inventory for the program beginning 
March 3, 2022 through October 31, 2022; and 
 

WHEREAS, the National League of Cities, in partnership with the W. K. Kellogg 
Foundation and Annie E. Casey Foundation, continually awards the SCEI cohort with additional 
funding; and 
 

WHEREAS, on January 17, 2023, the Jackson City Council authorized the execution of 
an amendment to the Memorandum of Understanding with NLC-SCEI applying and accepting an 
additional Five Thousand Dollars and Zero Cents ($5,000.00) for conducting a baseline assessment 
of local economic inclusion needs and assets, totaling a grant award amount of Thirty-Five 
Thousand Dollars and Zero Cents ($35,000) for the program beginning March 3, 2022 through 
October 31, 2022; and 
 

WHEREAS, on December 5, 2023, NLC-SCEI notified the Deputy Director of OED that 
the grant period would be extended to March 1, 2024 and that the grant award has increased Ten 
Thousand Dollars and Zero Cents ($10,000.00), totaling a grant award amount of Forty-Five 
Thousand Dollars and Zero Cents ($45,000.00) for planning, implementation, and assessment; and 
 

WHEREAS, on January 18, 2024, the Jackson City Council authorized the execution of 
an amendment to the Memorandum of Understanding with NLC-SCEI and that the grant award 
has increased Ten Thousand Dollars and Zero Cents ($10,000.00), totaling a grant award amount 
of Forty-Five Thousand Dollars and Zero Cents ($45,000) for the program ending March 1, 2024; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, on December 5, 2023, NLC-SCEI notified the Deputy Director of OED that 
the grant period would be extended to July 1, 2024 for planning, implementation, and assessment. 
 

NOW THEREFORE IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED that the Mayor is authorized to 
execute an amended Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with NLC-SCEI for participation in 
the NLC-SCEI program for the term ending July 1, 2024. 

 
Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 
                                                          
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1157 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

Nays – None 
Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER RATIFYING PROCUREMENT OF PARTS AND REPAIRS FROM 
VARIOUS VENDORS AND AUTHORIZING PAYMENTS TO SAID VENDORS 
FROM THE DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS.  

 
WHEREAS, the Municipal Garage Division of the Department of Public Works had need 

of certain parts to make repairs to City vehicles and found it necessary to send certain City vehicles 
for outside repairs; and 
 

WHEREAS, due to exigent circumstances, the procurement of these necessary parts and 
repairs was done without prior approval by the City Purchasing Manager or the City Council of 
the City of Jackson; and 
 

WHEREAS, the parts and repairs set forth in certain invoices attached hereto were 
provided to the Department of Public Works, Municipal Garage Division, and the in-house and 
outside repairs have been completed. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that payment to the following vendors in the amounts 
set forth be made, consistent with the attached invoices: 
 

Advanced Auto Parts    $9,503.75 

Mac Haik Dodge    $5,214.00 

Johnstone Supply    $398.88 

Calhoun Fence Inc.    $4,922.00 

O’Reilly Auto Parts    $216.88 

Hydraulic Service & Supply   $2,970.22 

Sansom Equipment Co.   $4,965.27 

Mac Haik Ford    $16,719.94 

Coke Boring     $12,328.88 

Bumper to Bumper    $7,524.13 

Certified Laboratories   $1,179.51 

 

Total $65,943.46 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1158 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1159 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1160 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 

 

  

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1161 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1162 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1163 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1164 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1165 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1166 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1167 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1168 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1169 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1170 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1171 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 

 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1172 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1173 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1174 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1175 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1176 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1177 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1178 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1179 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1180 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1181 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1182 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1183 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1184 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1185 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1186 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1187 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1188 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1189 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1190 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1191 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1192 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1193 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1194 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1195 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 

 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1196 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1197 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1198 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1199 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1200 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1201 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1202 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1203 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1204 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1205 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1206 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1207 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1208 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1209 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1210 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1211 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1212 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1213 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1214 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1215 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1216 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1217 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 
                                                          
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO APPLY FOR A GRANT WITH THE 
MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY TO FUND THE 
ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICE CENTER (ESC), A PERMANENT HOUSEHOLD 
HAZARDOUS WASTE COLLECTION SITE.  

 
WHEREAS, the Environmental Service Center located at 1570 University Boulevard is 

funded through the Mississippi Department of Environmental Quality’s Solid Waste Assistance 
Grant; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Solid Waste Assistance Grant is applied for October 1st and April 1st of 
each fiscal year; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City is requesting the full amount of $75,000 October 1st and April 1st 
of each year to keep the Environmental Service Center operational; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City provides the Environmental Service Center to residents in the tri-
county area for the proper disposal of all household hazardous waste materials that cannot be 
disposed with regular garbage. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED, that the Mayor is authorized to apply for a grant with 
the Mississippi Department of Environmental Quality to fund the Environmental Service Center. 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute any and all 
documents necessary to administer said grant. 
 
Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Grizzell seconded. 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1218 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
President Banks recognized Lakesha Weathers, Solid Waste Manager and Robert Lee, City 
Engineer, who provided a brief overview of said item. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

After a thorough discussion, President Banks called for a vote on said item:                                                          

                                                        
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.  
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER ESTABLISHING JUST COMPENSATION, AUTHORIZING 
ACQUISITION OF A PERMANENT EASEMENT AND PAYMENT OF 
DAMAGES FOR THE LAUREL STREET AND ST. ANN STREET SEWER 
EMERGENCY REPAIR, AND AUTHORIZING PAYMENT TO 
OWNERS/GRANTORS TWIN SISTERS TRUST.  

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 21-17-1 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, 

the City of Jackson, Mississippi, is authorized to sell, convey or hold any real or personal property 
and to make any such order respecting same that may be conducive to the best interest of the 
municipality; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Real Property Acquisition Policies Law, §§43-31-1, et seq., provides the 
requirements for acquiring privately owned real property for projects; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Department of Public Works discovered a sinkhole caused by the failure 
of a sewer line running from Lyncrest Avenue to St. Ann Street; and 
 

WHEREAS, the failure and sinkhole occurred in the backyard of residential property 
located at 1509 St. Ann Street and identified on the Hinds County Landroll as Parcel Number 15-
151-1; and 
 

WHEREAS, the sinkhole irreparably damaged the foundation of a garage structure on the 
property, which required the garage to be demolished; and 
 

WHEREAS, the failed sewer line also caused the death of a large tree on the property, 
which necessitated its removal to eliminate the danger of damage to property and human life; and 
 

WHEREAS, upon investigation of the land records, there appeared to be no permanent 
easement across the property for the sewer line; and 
 

WHEREAS, investigation of the condition of the sewer line revealed that a portion of the 
sewer of line had disintegrated and needed to be relocated onto the driveway of 1509 St. Ann 
Street; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson, Mississippi, through the Department of Public Works 
and pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 43-37-3, in order to make repairs to a sewer line, has sought to 
acquire a permanent easement over certain real property located in the City of Jackson, Hinds 
County, Mississippi, identified in the Hinds County Land Records as Parcel Number 15-151-1 and 
owned by Twin Sisters Trust; and 

 
WHEREAS, The City of Jackson, Mississippi, through the Department of Public Works 

and pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. 43-37-3 (b), and in order to make such repairs to a sewer line 
running between Lyncrest Avenue and St. Ann Street has made reasonable effort to acquire 
expeditiously an interest in certain real property located in the City of Jackson, Hinds County, 
Mississippi, identified in the Hinds County Land Records as Parcel Number 15-1-151 (Twin 
Sisters Trust); and 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1219 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson, Mississippi, through the Department of Public Works 
and pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. 43-37-3(b) and in order to make such repairs to a sewer line and 
compensate the owner for damages caused by the sewer line failure has obtained an appraisal for 
permanent easement over real property located in the City of Jackson, Hinds County, Mississippi, 
identified on the Hinds County Landroll as Parcel Number 15-1-151 (Twin Sisters Trust, owner 
of record) and damages to said parcel; and 
 

WHEREAS, fair market value for a permanent easement over real property located in City 
of Jackson, Hinds County, Mississippi, being identified as Parcel Number 15-1-151 (Twin Sisters 
Trust, owner of record) needed for repairs to a sewer line and damages to the property caused by 
the failure of the sewer line is $45,000.00; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Department of Public Works for the City of Jackson, Mississippi, 
recommends approval of this order to assist in the completion of repairs to one of its sewer lines; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council has determined that it is in the best interests of the 
City of Jackson, Mississippi, that the repairs to the sewer line running between Lyncrest Avenue 
and St. Ann Street be completed and that completion of said project will similarly benefit the 
citizens within and to the City of Jackson, Mississippi; 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that just compensation is established in the amount of 
$45,000.00 for acquisition of a permanent easement over certain property and damages herein 
identified as a Parcel Number 15-1-151 (Twin Sisters Trust, owner of record) and that a warrant 
payable to Twin Sisters Trust, as record owner in an amount not to exceed $45,000.00, be issued 
and made. 

 
Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Council Member Grizzell seconded. 
                                                          
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay.  
Nays – None. 
Abstentions – Stokes.  
Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING PAYMENT TO THE MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF 
ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY FOR UNDERGROUND STORAGE TANK FEES 
ASSOCIATED WITH THE LICENSING AND REGULATION OF FOUR (4) 
UNDERGROUND STORAGE TANKS.  

 
WHEREAS, state law requires the payment of fees to the Mississippi Department of 

Environmental Quality to license the operation of underground storage tanks; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson maintains an underground storage tank for the Emergency 
Operations Center, located at the Eudora Welty Library, 300 North State Street; and 
 

WHEREAS, prior to the appointment of the Interim Third-Party Manager to control, 
operate, and maintain the City of Jackson’s sewer system, on October 5, 2023, the City operated 
an underground storage tank at Westside Lift Station #5, 4210 Church Circle, and two at the 
Trahon Wastewater Treatment Plant, 1 Apache Drive-Landfill Road; and 
 

WHEREAS, the cost of the license for the EOC underground storage tank for the period 
August 1, 2021 through July 31, 2023 was $450.00; and 

 
WHEREAS, the cost of the license for the two underground storage tanks at Trahon 

Wastewater Treatment Plant for the period August 1, 2021 through July 31, 2023 was $900.00; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, the cost of the license for the Westside Lift Station #5 underground storage 
tank for the period August 1, 2021 through July 31, 2022 was $450.00; and 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1220 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

WHEREAS, a copy of the invoice for the license fees, totaling $1,800.00, is attached to this 
Order and made a part of the minutes. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that payment of $1,800.00 to the Mississippi 
Department of Environmental Quality be authorized for four underground storage tank licenses. 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the check include customer number C/115 and be made 
payable to DEQ/UST. 

 

 
 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 
                                                          
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.  
Nays – None. 
Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

President Banks requested that Agenda Item No.14 be moved forward on the Agenda. Hearing 
no objections, the Clerk read the following:  

ORDER AMENDING THE FISCAL YEAR 2023-2024 BUDGET OF THE CITY OF 
JACKSON TO PROVIDE FOR THE TRANSFER OF FUNDS TO THE CAPITAL 
CITY CONVENTION CENTER.  
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1221 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

WHEREAS, certain unbudgeted needs and allocations in the amount of $480,000.00 have 
arisen since the adoption of the Fiscal Year 2023-2024 City of Jackson Budget; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Fiscal Year 2023-2024 City of Jackson Budget should be amended to 

provide funding of these unbudgeted needs by moving funds from the fund balance where they are 
needed to fund additional, unfunded needs of the Capital City Convention Center; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Mississippi Telecommunication Conference and Training Center 

Commission was created pursuant to Mississippi Code Ann. S 31-31-5 and funding for the 
maintenance of the facility and renovations, improvements and additions to the facility is 
provided pursuant to Mississippi Code Ann. §31-31-11; and 

 
WHEREAS, for approximately four years, since March 2020, the funding 

received pursuant to the statute has been expended on bond deficits and bond payments, and has 
therefore resulted in no sales tax funds flowing directly to the Commission for payments to the 
operator management company; and  

 
WHEREAS, on August 3, 2021, the Jackson City Council authorized the Mayor to issue 

American Rescue Plan funds to the Jackson Convention Complex in the amount of $570,000 and 
on February 4, 2022, the Jackson City Council authorized the Mayor to issue American Rescue 
Plan funds to the Jackson Convention Complex in the amount of $500,000; and 

 
WHEREAS, additional funding in the amount of $300,000.00 was requested by the 

Capital City Convention Center for immediate funding in response to its management company’s 
(OVG) letters of default; and 

 
WHEREAS, without additional funding from the City of Jackson, the funding shortfalls 

suffered by the Capital City Convention Center may cause the Convention Center complex to 
cease operations; and 

 
WHEREAS, the request to amend the following fund is being made: 

ARPA FUNDS $480,000.00. 
 
IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Fiscal Year 2023-2024 Budget of the City of 

Jackson be amended as follows: 
 
To/From Fund/Account Number Amount 
______________________________________________________________ 
       From              ARPA FUNDS                         $480,000.00 
 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Grizzell seconded. 
_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 
President Banks recognized Council Member Lindsay who moved; seconded by Council 
Member Grizzell, to substitute said order with the recommended order provided by City Legal. 
The motion prevailed by the following votes: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 
Nays – None.  
Absent – None.    

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on said item as amended: 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO ISSUE FUNDS TO THE JACKSON 
CONVENTION CENTER. 

WHEREAS, the Mississippi Telecommunication Conference and Training Center 
Commission was created pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 31-31-5, and funding for the maintenance 
of the facility and renovations, improvements, and additions to the facility is provided pursuant to 
Miss. Code Ann. § 31-31-11; and 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1222 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

WHEREAS, for approximately four years, the funding received according to the statute 
has been expended on bond deficits and bond payments; therefore, no sales tax funds flowed 
directly to the Commission for payments to the operator management company; and  

WHEREAS, on August 3, 2021, the Jackson City Council authorized the Mayor to issue 
American Rescue Plan funds to the Jackson Convention Complex in the amount of $570,000.00; 
and 

WHEREAS, on February 4, 2022, the Jackson City Council authorized the Mayor to issue 
American Rescue Plan funds to the Jackson Convention Complex in the amount of $500,000.00, 
and the amount of $300,000.00 to the Capital City Convention Center in response to its 
management company’s (OVG) letters of default; and 

WHEREAS, the Mississippi Telecommunication Conference and Training Center 
Commission has the power to accept grants of money from any source; and 

WHEREAS, the Department of Finance requests that the governing authority for the City 
appropriate $480,000.00 to cover operational costs for the Jackson Convention Center. 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor shall have the authority to authorize 
an appropriation in the amount of $480,000.00 to the Jackson Convention Complex from the 
American Rescue Plan funds.  

                                                         
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 
Nays – Stokes. 
Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE SUPPLEMENTAL 
AGREEMENT #2 TO THE PRELIMINARY ENGINEERING SERVICES 
CONTRACT WITH NEEL-SCHAFFER, INC. FOR THE MEDGAR EVERS 
BOULEVARD RAISE GRANT PROJECT.  

 
WHEREAS, the City of Jackson entered into a preliminary engineering services contract 

with Neel-Schaffer, Inc. for work on the Medgar Evers Boulevard RAISE Grant Project, with 
construction partially funded by a $20,000,000.00 RAISE grant from the United States Department 
of Transportation; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Neel-Schaffer, Inc., has completed 60% plans in accordance with the 
original contract, and the proposed supplemental agreement will complete all design work on this 
project; and 
 

WHEREAS, Neel-Schaffer, Inc. has provided a cost estimate of $547,508.75 to provide 
the final phase of preliminary engineering services for the project, which includes the following 
additional work: 
 
Additional survey, maps and deeds, ROW acquisition, finalize listing of pay items, plan and profile 
sheets showing final geometrics, profile grades, construction limits, cross-sections, preliminary 
earthwork quantities, final size and location of all drainage structures; plotting cross drain 
structures on the cross sections; final plans which will include Professional Engineering and 
Technical Services in connection with the design of Water and Sewer Line Replacement and/or 
Renovation; attendance and conducting of a plan-in-hand Office Review, submittal of the Plans, 
Specifications and Estimate, the initial bidding and award of the project and the holding of the 
preconstruction meeting; and 
 

WHEREAS, the terms and conditions of the original contract remain the same; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Engineer recommends the approval of this Supplemental Agreement 

#2 to allow the completion of design, and bidding and award of the construction contract for 
project. 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1223 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute supplemental 
agreement #2 to the preliminary engineering services contract with Neel-Schaffer, Inc. for the 
Medgar Evers Boulevard RAISE Grant Project, for an amount not to exceed $547,508.75. 

 
Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Stokes seconded. 

         _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
President Banks recognized Robert Lee, City Engineer, who provided a brief overview of 
said item. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

After a thorough discussion, President Banks called for a vote on said item:                                                                                                                  

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.  
Nays – None. 
Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

There came on for consideration, Agenda Item No. 34: 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE THE CONTRACT AND 
RELATED DOCUMENTS WITH RICHARD’S DISPOSAL, INC. TO PROVIDE 
SOLID WASTE COLLECTION AND HAULING SERVICES FOR A SIX (6) YEAR 
TERM COMMENCING APRIL 1, 2024 WITH FOUR (4) ONE (1) YEAR 
EXTENSION OPTIONS. President Banks stated that said item would be discussed later 
in the meeting. 

 
* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

ORDER AUTHORIZING PAYMENT OF $65,728.54 TO JERMAL CLARK AS 
FULL AND COMPLETE SETTLEMENT OF PROPERTY DAMAGE CLAIM 
AND NO ADMISSION OF LIABILITY.  

 
WHEREAS, on May 30, 2023, sewage flowed into the house located at 2939 Oakmont 

Drive, Jackson, Mississippi, owned by the Jermal Clark and caused damage; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms of the Consent Decree entered in the United States 
District Court for the Southern district of Mississippi Cause # 3:12-CV-790 TSL-MTP, the City 
paid Mr. Clark the sum of 11,947.44 for hazard mitigation and cleaning; and 
 

WHEREAS, Mr. Clark submitted a demand for payment of the cost of temporary lodging, 
interior restoration, mileage, storage fees and personal property damage; and 
 

WHEREAS, after reviewing the circumstances surrounding the incident and the current 
state of the law regarding the availability of immunity pursuant to the Mississippi Tort Claims Act, 
the Office of the City Attorney recommended that the claim be compromised; and 
 

WHEREAS, it is recommended that the claim of Jermal Clark be compromised for the 
sum of $65,728.54 without any admission of liability. 
 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the claim of Jermal Clark for property damage may be 
compromised for the sum of $65,728.54 with the understanding that the City of Jackson is not 
admitting liability and subject to Jermal Clark accepting offer and releasing the City of Jackson 
for any known or unknown damage arising out of the May 30, 2023 incident.  
 
Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded.                                          
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.  
Nays – None. 
Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE PAYMENT OF ATTORNEY’S FEES ON BEHALF 
OF JACKSON POLICE OFFICER RAKASHA ADAMS, IN THE MATTER OF 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1224 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

THE ESTATE OF CRYSTALLINE BARNES, DECEASED VS. THE CITY OF 
JACKSON, ALBERT TAYLOR, IN HIS INDIVIDUAL AND OFFICIAL 
CAPACITY, RAKASHA ADAMS, IN HER INDIVIDUAL CAPACITY; IN THE 
UNITED STATES FEDERAL DISTRICT COURT, SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF 
MISSISSIPPI; CIVIL ACTION NO.: 3:18-CV-644-CWR-LGI.  

 
WHEREAS, on September 17, 2018, the Estate of Crystalline Barnes, filed a federal civil 

rights lawsuit against the City of Jackson, Mississippi, Albert Taylor, in his individual capacity, 
and Rakasha Adams, in her individual capacity from an alleged incident that occurred on or about 
January 27, 2018; and 
 

WHEREAS, Officer Rakasha Adams was sued in her individual capacity; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Office of the City Attorney determined that there was a high risk of a 
conflict of interest in the representation of Officer Adams in both her official and individual 
capacities inasmuch as the statutory and legal requirements of immunity for the City and an 
individual police officer differ greatly under current legal precedent in such civil rights litigation; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, the City has a statutory obligation to provide defense counsel for its officers 
and other employees; and 
 

WHEREAS, Officer Adams desired to be presented by the law firm Danks, Miller & Cory, 
PA by and through Attorney Michael Cory; and 
 

WHEREAS, Attorney Michael Cory successfully defended Officer Adams in the litigation 
of this matter, resulting in a defense verdict by a federal jury;and 
 

WHEREAS, Attorney Michael Cory’s hourly rate is $150 per hour, and he incurred 
attorney’s fees in the amount of $40,052.94 during the entire litigation of this matter. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the City is hereby authorized to pay Attorney 
Michael Cory with the law firm Danks, Miller & Cory for the representation of Officer Adams in 
the matter of the Estate of Crystalline Barnes vs. City of Jackson, et al. in the amount of 
$40,052.94. 
 
Council Member Banks moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 
                                                          
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay.  
Nays – None. 
Abstention – Stokes.  
Recusal– Grizzell.  
 

Note: Council Member Grizzell recused himself and left the meeting prior to any discussion of 
the said item.   

* * * * * * * * * * * * *  

Note: Council Member Lindsay left the meeting.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * *  

There came on for Discussion Agenda Item No. 37:  

DISCUSSION: THIEVES AND DOPE BOYS: President Banks recognized Council 
Member Stokes who expressed concerns regarding the need for a 24-hour surveillance 
camera in the Industrial Drive Business Community to help prevent crime in that area and 
requested help in addressing a drug problem at a convenience store on Woodrow Wilson 
Blvd. President Banks recognized Mayor Chokwe Antar Lumumba who stated he 
would speak with Chief Wade and Assistant Chief Grizzell about his concerns. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1225 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

Note: Council Member Grizzell returned to the meeting.  
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

DISCUSSION: NEIGHBORHOOD ILLEGAL GATHERINGS: President Banks 
recognized Council Member Stokes who expressed concerns regarding party like 
gatherings taking place on abandon lots and at vacant houses with illegal activity taking 
place. Stokes stated these gathering was causing fear among the senior citizen community 
in his area. President Banks recognized Mayor Chokwe Antar Lumumba who instructed 
the Legal Department to look into any laws that may would help rectify this situation.  
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

Note: Council Member Lindsay returned to the meeting.  
  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

DISCUSSION: HUMANITARIAN CEASEFIRE IN GAZA: President Banks 
recognized Mayor Chokwe Antar Lumumba who condemned the actions of Hamas as 
well as the innocent lives taken by the State of Israel. President Banks recognized Melissa 
Payne, Director of Communications, who read a Proclamation Issued by the Mayor.   

 
* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 
DISCUSSION: PENDING LITIGATION: President Banks stated said discussion item 
would be held until a later meeting at the request of Drew Martin, City Attorney..  

 
* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

There came on for consideration Agenda item No. 41: 

MONTHLY REPORT OF PRIVILEGE TAXES AS REQUIRED ACCORDING TO 
SECTION 27-17-501 OF THE MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED OF 1972. 
President Banks stated that all City Council members had received the monthly financial 
report for review. 

                                                        * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 
There came on for consideration Agenda item No. 34: 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE THE CONTRACT AND 
RELATED DOCUMENTS WITH RICHARD’S DISPOSAL, INC. TO PROVIDE 
SOLID WASTE COLLECTION AND HAULING SERVICES FOR A SIX (6) YEAR 
TERM COMMENCING APRIL 1, 2024 WITH FOUR (4) ONE (1) YEAR 
EXTENSION OPTIONS.  

 
WHEREAS, the Solid Waste Division of the Department of Public Works issued a 

Request for Proposals for Solid Waste Collection Services in November 2023; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City received two proposals in response to its Request for Proposals; and 
 

WHEREAS, an Evaluation Committee evaluated the technical proposal and the minority 
business participation of each proposal; and 
 

WHEREAS, the cost proposals were evaluated using an objective formula; and 
 

WHEREAS, based on the results of the evaluation, the Evaluation Committee 
recommended the proposal of Richard’s Disposal, Inc. as the most qualified proposer based on its 
technical proposal, minority participation, and the price proposal and the weight assigned to each 
of these factors; and 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1226 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

WHEREAS, the Mayor determined to negotiate a contract with Richard’s Disposal, Inc. 
for twice-per-week solid waste collection; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Mayor has negotiated such a contract with Richard’s Disposal, Inc. that 
will provide twice-per-week collection at a cost of $891,000.00 each month commencing on April 
1, 2024 and continuing through an initial term ending March 31, 2030 and including the option to 
extend the contract in one-year increments up to four (4) additional years; and 
 

WHEREAS, copy of the contract is attached hereto as an exhibit and fully incorporated in 
the minutes of the City Council. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a contract and 
related documents with Richard’s Disposal, Inc. to provide solid waste collection services 
consistent with the terms set forth in this order, with the Request for Proposals, 
Richard’s Disposal, Inc.’s Proposal, and the terms of the contract attached hereto as an exhibit 
and fully incorporated in the minutes of the City Council. 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1227 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1228 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1229 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1230 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1231 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1232 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 

 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1233 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 

 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1234 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 

 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1235 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1236 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1237 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1238 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1239 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1240 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1241 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1242 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 

 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1243 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1244 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1245 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1246 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1247 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 
 
Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Grizzell seconded. 

        _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

President Banks recognized Drew Martin, City Attorney, who provided a brief overview of 
said item. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

Council Member Foote moved; seconded by Council Member Stokes, to amend said order to 
remove 45,000 – 96- gallon carts from the contract.  

        _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
President Banks recognized Gloria Green, Richard’s Disposal Inc. Attorney, Alvin Richards, 
and Deidra Jones of Richard’s Disposal, Inc. who provided a brief overview of said item. The 
motion prevailed by the following vote: 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley and Stokes  
Nays – Grizzell, Lee, Lindsay  
Absent – None.  

          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
Council Member Stokes moved; seconded by Council Member Hartley, to amend said order to 
replace Richard’s Disposal with National Collection Services “NCS” on the 1st page of the 
contract. The motion failed by the following vote: 

Yeas – Foote, Hartley and Stokes. 
Nays – Banks, Grizzell, Lee, Lindsay. 
Absent – None.  

Note: Said item failed due to a lack of a majority of vote  

        _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
Council Member Stokes moved; seconded by Council Member Hartley, to amend said order to 
reduce the terms of the contract to 2 years. The motion failed by the following vote: 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1248 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

Yeas – Foote, Hartley and Stokes.  
Nays – Banks, Grizzell, Lee and Lindsay.  
Absent – None.  

Note: Said item failed due to a lack of a majority of vote. 

          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
Council Member Stokes moved; seconded by Council Member Hartley, to amend said order to 
change the compensation amount in Section 3.1 from $891,000.00 to $765,000.00 per month. The 
motion failed by the following vote: 

Yeas – Foote, Hartley and Stokes. 
Nays – Banks, Grizzell, Lee, Lindsay. 
Absent – None.  

Note: Said item failed due to a lack of a majority of vote  

          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
Council Member Stokes moved; seconded by Council Member Hartley, to amend said order to 
award contract to lowest bidder and place Richard’s Disposal as a subcontractor. The motion failed 
by the following vote: 

Yeas – Foote, Hartley, and Stokes. 
Nays – Banks, Grizzell, Lee, Lindsay. 
Absent – None.  
 
Note: Said item failed due to a lack of a majority of vote:  

        _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
President Banks recognized Lee Bush, National Collection Systems LLC, who provided a brief 
overview of said item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

After a thorough discussion, President Banks called for a vote on said item as amended: 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE THE CONTRACT AND 
RELATED DOCUMENTS WITH RICHARD’S DISPOSAL, INC. TO PROVIDE 
SOLID WASTE COLLECTION AND HAULING SERVICES FOR A SIX (6) YEAR 
TERM COMMENCING APRIL 1, 2024 WITH FOUR (4) ONE (1) YEAR 
EXTENSION OPTIONS.  

 
WHEREAS, the Solid Waste Division of the Department of Public Works issued a 

Request for Proposals for Solid Waste Collection Services in November 2023; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City received two proposals in response to its Request for Proposals; and 
 

WHEREAS, an Evaluation Committee evaluated the technical proposal and the minority 
business participation of each proposal; and 
 

WHEREAS, the cost proposals were evaluated using an objective formula; and 
 

WHEREAS, based on the results of the evaluation, the Evaluation Committee 
recommended the proposal of Richard’s Disposal, Inc. as the most qualified proposer based on its 
technical proposal, minority participation, and the price proposal and the weight assigned to each 
of these factors; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Mayor determined to negotiate a contract with Richard’s Disposal, Inc. 
for twice-per-week solid waste collection; and 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1249 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

WHEREAS, the Mayor has negotiated such a contract with Richard’s Disposal, Inc. that 
will provide twice-per-week collection at a cost of $891,000.00 each month commencing on April 
1, 2024 and continuing through an initial term ending March 31, 2030 and including the option to 
extend the contract in one-year increments up to four (4) additional years; and 
 

WHEREAS, copy of the contract is attached hereto as an exhibit and fully incorporated in 
the minutes of the City Council. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a contract and 
related documents with Richard’s Disposal, Inc. to provide solid waste collection services 
consistent with the terms set forth in this order, with the Request for Proposals, 
Richard’s Disposal, Inc.’s Proposal, and the terms of the contract attached hereto as an exhibit 
and fully incorporated in the minutes of the City Council. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Lee and Lindsay. 
Nays – Foote, Grizzell, Hartley and Stokes.  
Absent – None.  
 
Note: Said item failed due to a lack of a majority of vote.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

President Banks recognized Vice President Lee who moved, seconded by Council Member 
Lindsay to reconsider the previous item. The motion prevailed by the following vote: 

Yeas – Banks, Grizzell, Lee and Lindsay. 
Nays – Foote, Hartley, and Stokes. 
Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

Thereafter, President Banks requested that the Clerk read the order:  

 
ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE THE CONTRACT AND 
RELATED DOCUMENTS WITH RICHARD’S DISPOSAL, INC. TO PROVIDE 
SOLID WASTE COLLECTION AND HAULING SERVICES FOR A SIX (6) YEAR 
TERM COMMENCING APRIL 1, 2024 WITH FOUR (4) ONE (1) YEAR 
EXTENSION OPTIONS.  

 
WHEREAS, the Solid Waste Division of the Department of Public Works issued a 

Request for Proposals for Solid Waste Collection Services in November 2023; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City received two proposals in response to its Request for Proposals; and 
 

WHEREAS, an Evaluation Committee evaluated the technical proposal and the minority 
business participation of each proposal; and 
 

WHEREAS, the cost proposals were evaluated using an objective formula; and 
 

WHEREAS, based on the results of the evaluation, the Evaluation Committee 
recommended the proposal of Richard’s Disposal, Inc. as the most qualified proposer based on its 
technical proposal, minority participation, and the price proposal and the weight assigned to each 
of these factors; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Mayor determined to negotiate a contract with Richard’s Disposal, Inc. 
for twice-per-week solid waste collection; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Mayor has negotiated such a contract with Richard’s Disposal, Inc. that 
will provide twice-per-week collection at a cost of $891,000.00 each month commencing on April 
1, 2024 and continuing through an initial term ending March 31, 2030 and including the option to 
extend the contract in one-year increments up to four (4) additional years; and 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1250 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

WHEREAS, copy of the contract is attached hereto as an exhibit and fully incorporated in 
the minutes of the City Council. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a contract and 
related documents with Richard’s Disposal, Inc. to provide solid waste collection services 
consistent with the terms set forth in this order, with the Request for Proposals, 
Richard’s Disposal, Inc.’s Proposal, and the terms of the contract attached hereto as an exhibit 
and fully incorporated in the minutes of the City Council. 
 

 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1251 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1252 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1253 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1254 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1255 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1256 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1257 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1258 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 

 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1259 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1260 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1261 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1262 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1263 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1264 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1265 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1266 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 

 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1267 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1268 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1269 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1270 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1271 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 
 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 
        _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 
President Banks recognized Vice President Lee who moved, seconded by President Banks to 
remove 45,000 – 96- gallon carts from the contract. 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee and Stokes. 
Nays – Grizzell and Lindsay.  
Absent – None.  

        _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on said item as amended:       

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE THE CONTRACT AND 
RELATED DOCUMENTS WITH RICHARD’S DISPOSAL, INC. TO PROVIDE 
SOLID WASTE COLLECTION AND HAULING SERVICES FOR A SIX (6) YEAR 
TERM COMMENCING APRIL 1, 2024 WITH FOUR (4) ONE (1) YEAR 
EXTENSION OPTIONS.  

 
WHEREAS, the Solid Waste Division of the Department of Public Works issued a 

Request for Proposals for Solid Waste Collection Services in November 2023; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City received two proposals in response to its Request for Proposals; and 
 

WHEREAS, an Evaluation Committee evaluated the technical proposal and the minority 
business participation of each proposal; and 
 

WHEREAS, the cost proposals were evaluated using an objective formula; and 
 

WHEREAS, based on the results of the evaluation, the Evaluation Committee 
recommended the proposal of Richard’s Disposal, Inc. as the most qualified proposer based on its 
technical proposal, minority participation, and the price proposal and the weight assigned to each 
of these factors; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Mayor determined to negotiate a contract with Richard’s Disposal, Inc. 
for twice-per-week solid waste collection; and 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1272 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

WHEREAS, the Mayor has negotiated such a contract with Richard’s Disposal, Inc. that 
will provide twice-per-week collection at a cost of $891,000.00 each month commencing on April 
1, 2024 and continuing through an initial term ending March 31, 2030 and including the option to 
extend the contract in one-year increments up to four (4) additional years; and 
 

WHEREAS, copy of the contract is attached hereto as an exhibit and fully incorporated in 
the minutes of the City Council. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a contract and 
related documents with Richard’s Disposal, Inc. to provide solid waste collection services 
consistent with the terms set forth in this order, with the Request for Proposals, 
Richard’s Disposal, Inc.’s Proposal, and the terms of the contract attached hereto as an exhibit 
and fully incorporated in the minutes of the City Council. 
 
                                                                    
 

 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1273 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1274 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1275 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1276 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1277 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 

 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1278 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 

 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1279 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 

 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1280 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1281 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1282 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1283 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1284 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1285 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1286 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1287 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 

 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1288 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1289 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1290 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1291 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1292 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 
 
Yeas – Banks, Grizzell, Lee and Lindsay  
Nays – Foote, Stokes and Hartley.  
Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

The following reports/announcements were provided during the meeting: 
 

• Council Member Hartley announced the following: 
 Radio Show Hosting on March 20, 20241 at 10:00 a.m. on WMPR Radio Station.   

 
• President Banks announced the following: 

 Close the meeting in Honor of Naru Ford and Vicksburg City Council Michael 
Mayfield. 
 

• Mayor Chokwe Antar Lumumba announced the following: 
 Happy Birthday to his daughters Alake’ Maryama and Nubia Ngozi.  

 
• Council Member Stokes announced the following: 

 Close the meeting in Honor of Jennifer Gale, John Wick Sr., Peggy Thomas 
Johnson, Mae Willie Haywood, Sandra Dully King, Erma Marie Donaldson. Also 
wish Jackson State and Grambling University good luck in the NCAA Basketball 
Tournament.   
 

• Council Member Lindsay announced the following: 
 Special thanks to Mr. Richards of Richard’s Disposal for his hard work and 

dedication over the past two years.   
 

 * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

There being no further business to come before the City Council, it was unanimously voted to 
adjourn until the Special Council Meeting at 12:00 p.m. on March 21, 2024.  At 2:51 p.m., the 
Council stood adjourned.   
 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                TUESDAY, MARCH 19, 2024 10:00 A.M.                         1293 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

PREPARED BY:    APPROVED: 
 
                                   ____________                                                     ,  ______         ___                        
CLERK OF COUNCIL              COUNCIL PRESIDENT    DATE 
  
 
                                                               ____________     

      MAYOR 

 
      ATTEST:  
                                         ____________     
      CITY CLERK 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
            THURSDAY, MARCH 21, 2024 12:00 P.M.             1294 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

BE IT REMEMBERED that a Special Meeting of the City Council of Jackson, 
Mississippi, was called by a majority of the City Council Members and notices having been placed 
by the Clerk of Council at 12:00 p.m. Thursday, March 21, 2024 in the Clerk of Council’s Office, 
electronic notifications to all Council Members, on the City's website and on the public bulletin 
board in City Hall, relative to: (1) Order ratifying the mayor’s execution of contract and related 
documents with Richard’s Disposal, Inc. to provide Solid Waste Collection and Hauling services 
for a six (6) year term commencing April 1, 2024 with four (4) one (1) year extension options, 
with requirements of carts removed, and at a cost $851,000.00 each month. The meeting was 
convened in the Council Chambers located at 219 S. President Street at 12: 00 p.m. on March 21, 
2024 being the third Thursday of said month, when and where the following things were had and 
done to wit: 

Present: Council Members: Aaron Banks, Council President, Ward 6; Angelique 
Lee, Council Vice President, Ward 2; Ashby Foote, Ward 1; Kenneth 
Stokes, Ward 3; Brian Grizzell, Ward 4; Vernon Hartley, Ward 5 and Virgi 
Lindsay, Ward 7. Directors: Mayor Chokwe Antar Lumumba; Safiya 
Omari, Chief of Staff; Louis Wright, Chief Administrative Officer; Fidelis 
Malembeka, Chief Financial Officer; Shanekia Jordan, Clerk of Council; 
Sabrina Shelby, Chief Deputy Clerk of Council and Drew Martin, City 
Attorney.  

Absent:   None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

The meeting was called to order by President Banks. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

ORDER RATIFYING THE MAYOR’S EXECUTION OF CONTRACT AND 
RELATED DOCUMENTS WITH RICHARD’S DISPOSAL, INC. TO PROVIDE 
SOLID WASTE COLLECTION AND HAULING SERVICES FOR A SIX (6) YEAR 
TERM COMMENCING APRIL 1, 2024 WITH FOUR (4) ONE (1) YEAR 
EXTENSION OPTIONS, WITH REQUIREMENTS OF CARTS REMOVED, AND 
AT A COST $851,000.00 EACH MONTH.  

WHEREAS, the Solid Waste Division of the Department of Public Works issued a 
Request for Proposals for Solid Waste Collection Services in November 2023; and 

WHEREAS, the City received two proposals in response to its Request for Proposals; 
and 

WHEREAS, an Evaluation Committee evaluated the technical proposal and the 
minority business participation of each proposal; and 

WHEREAS, the cost proposals were evaluated using an objective formula; and 

WHEREAS, based on the results of the evaluation, the Evaluation Committee 
recommended the proposal of Richard’s Disposal, Inc. as the most qualified proposer based on 
its technical proposal, minority participation, and the price proposal and the weight assigned to 
each of these factors; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor determined to negotiate a contract with Richard’s Disposal, Inc. 
for twice-per-week solid waste collection; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor negotiated such a contract with Richard’s Disposal, Inc. that 
would provide twice-per-week collection at a cost of $891,000.00 each month commencing on 
April 1, 2024 and continuing through an initial term ending March 31, 2030 and including the 
option to extend the contract in one-year increments up to four (4) additional years; and 

Consent Item Need to be added to agenda
April 9, 2024
(S.Jordan, Banks)



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
            THURSDAY, MARCH 21, 2024 12:00 P.M.             1295 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

WHEREAS, on March 19, 2024, the City Council passed an Order authorizing the 
Mayor to Execute such a contract with Richard’s Disposal, Inc. but with the requirements of 
carts removed from the Contract; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor negotiated such a contract with Richard’s Disposal, Inc. that 
would provide twice-per-week collection commencing on April 1, 2024 and continuing through 
an initial term ending March 31, 2030 and including the option to extend the contract in one-
year increments up to four (4) additional years, without carts to be provided by Richard’s 
Disposal, Inc., at a cost of $851,000.00 each month; and 

WHEREAS, a copy of the executed contract is attached hereto as an exhibit and fully 
incorporated in the minutes of the City Council. 

THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL HEREBY RATIFIES the Mayor’s execution 
of the contract and related documents with Richard’s Disposal, Inc. to provide solid waste 
collection and hauling services for a six (6) year term commencing April 1, 2024 with four (4) 
one (1) year extension options, with requirements of carts removed, and at a cost of $851,000.00 
each month, and to make payments as set forth in the attached contract. 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                 THURSDAY, MARCH 21, 2024 12:00 P.M.                        1296 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                 THURSDAY, MARCH 21, 2024 12:00 P.M.                        1297 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                 THURSDAY, MARCH 21, 2024 12:00 P.M.                        1298 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 

 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                 THURSDAY, MARCH 21, 2024 12:00 P.M.                        1299 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 

 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                 THURSDAY, MARCH 21, 2024 12:00 P.M.                        1300 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                 THURSDAY, MARCH 21, 2024 12:00 P.M.                        1301 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                 THURSDAY, MARCH 21, 2024 12:00 P.M.                        1302 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 

 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                 THURSDAY, MARCH 21, 2024 12:00 P.M.                        1303 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 

 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                 THURSDAY, MARCH 21, 2024 12:00 P.M.                        1304 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                 THURSDAY, MARCH 21, 2024 12:00 P.M.                        1305 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 

 
 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                 THURSDAY, MARCH 21, 2024 12:00 P.M.                        1306 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                 THURSDAY, MARCH 21, 2024 12:00 P.M.                        1307 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                 THURSDAY, MARCH 21, 2024 12:00 P.M.                        1308 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
            THURSDAY, MARCH 21, 2024 12:00 P.M.             1309 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                 THURSDAY, MARCH 21, 2024 12:00 P.M.                        1310 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 
 

 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                 THURSDAY, MARCH 21, 2024 12:00 P.M.                        1311 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 

 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                 THURSDAY, MARCH 21, 2024 12:00 P.M.                        1312 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 
 
 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                 THURSDAY, MARCH 21, 2024 12:00 P.M.                        1313 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 
 

 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
            THURSDAY, MARCH 21, 2024 12:00 P.M.             1314 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 
        _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

President Banks recognized Drew Martin, City Attorney, who provided an overview of said 
item. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

After a thorough discussion, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 

Yeas – Banks, Grizzell, Lee and Lindsay. 
Nays – Foote, Hartley, and Stokes. 
Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

The meeting was closed in memory of the following individuals: 

• In Memory of Ms. Collins of Collins Dream Kitchen

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

There being no further business to come before the City Council, it was unanimously voted to 
adjourn until Regular Council Meeting at 10:00 a.m. on March 26, 2024.  At 11:19 a.m., the 
Council stood adjourned.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * *



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
            THURSDAY, MARCH 21, 2024 12:00 P.M.             1315 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

PREPARED BY: APPROVED: 

____________       ,  ______         ___
CLERK OF COUNCIL             COUNCIL PRESIDENT    DATE 

____________    

MAYOR 

ATTEST: 

_______________________________       
CITY CLERK 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 



















Page 1 of 7 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, CREATING 
REGULATIONS FOR THE INSTALLATION OF DIGITAL SECURITY CAMERA SYSTEMS 
FOR PARKING LOT AND ENTRY/EXIT DOOR MONITORING OF CONVENIENCE TYPE 
GROCERY STORES AND SERVICE STATIONS AND PROVIDING PROCEDURES FOR 
THE INCORPORATION OF SAID SECURITY CAMERA SYSTEMS INTO THE CITY’S 
EXISTING BLUE LIGHT CAMERA NETWORK – SAID ORDINANCE TO BE TITLED 
“CONNECT JXN – BLUE LIGHT SAFETY INITIATIVE” (LEE) 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson (City) is tasked with protecting the health, welfare, and 
safety of its residents and visitors by ensuring the availability of crime free and safe 
convenience stores and gas stations within the City; and 

WHEREAS, the City deems it to be in the best interests of the health, safety, and 
welfare of its citizens, businesses, and visitors to provide safe environments for 
employees and patrons of convenience stores and gas stations located within the 
City; and 

WHEREAS, the governing authorities of the City find that convenience stores and gas 
stations’ parking lots and fuel pumping areas may expose people to the risk of 
abductions, robberies, and other similar criminal acts; and 

WHEREAS, the governing authorities find that convenience stores and gas stations 
are often the targets of robberies and/or attempted robberies, many of which 
occurrences have resulted in the death of a store employee and/or of a store patron; 
and 

WHEREAS, the governing authorities find that insufficient security standards and 
protocols at convenience stores and gas stations are significant threats to the health, 
safety, and well-being of citizens and visitors of the City; and 

WHEREAS, a study conducted by the United States Department of Justice, 
Community Oriented Policing Services (COPS), has determined that there is a 
reduced level of fear amongst people who are aware they are under video 
surveillance, while also encouraging people to be more security conscious; and 

WHEREAS, the above study also concluded that security camera systems may deter 
criminal activity, especially such activity that takes a longer time to commit, as the 
potential offender runs a greater risk of capture; and 

WHEREAS, video surveillance cameras have proven to be an effective tool for law 
enforcement officers in the investigations of certain criminal activities and in the 
apprehension of criminal offenders; and 

Introduction of Ordinance #16
4.9.2024
(LEE)



 

Page 2 of 7 

WHEREAS, the governing authorities find that certain security standards, including 
the installation of security cameras to monitor the parking lots/fueling areas and 
entrance/exit doors of convenience stores and gas stations, should both improve the 
solvability of crimes in those areas and deter and prevent future crimes; and 
 
WHEREAS, the threat posed to the City’s citizens, visitors, and business owners by 
criminal actions occurring at convenience stores and gas stations located in the City 
is very significant and undermines the City’s economic health; and 
 
WHEREAS, by installing security cameras now, rather than after an incident takes 
place, owners of convenience stores and gas stations will not only protect their 
patrons and employees, but also help insulate themselves from potential civil liability 
and potentially incur lower insurance premiums; therefore 
 
NOW BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF JACKSON, 
MISSISSIPPI, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1. Title. This Ordinance shall be titled “Connect JXN – Blue Light Safety 
Initiative.” 
 
Section 2. Recitals Adopted. The recitals set forth above are incorporated herein by 
this reference. 
 
Section 3. Definitions. For the purpose of this Ordinance, certain words, phrases, 
and terms used herein shall be interpreted as stated in this Section. Any word, 
phrase, or term not defined herein shall be defined as found in the City of Jackson 
Zoning Ordinance. If a word, phrase, or term is not defined in this Section and not 
found in the City of Jackson Zoning Ordinance, its ordinary accepted usage applies.  
 
(3.1) Convenience Type Grocery Store (found in Section 202.39 of the City of 
Jackson’s Zoning Ordinance): A store of not more than 3,000 square feet of retail 
sales area, not counting storage, which deals in grocery items of a convenience 
nature, and/or the sale of on-site prepared food items. The food items will be sold in 
edible containers, or in paper, plastic, or other disposable containers for off-premises 
consumption. This type of use is also commonly referred to as a “drive-in” grocery 
store with self-service gasoline pumps and may include an automated drive-through 
car wash. 
 
(3.2) Service Station (found in Section 202.151 of the City of Jackson’s Zoning 
Ordinance): Any building, structure, or land used primarily for the dispensing, sale, 
or offering for sale at retail of any automotive fuels, oils, accessories, or other sundry 
items normally sold at service stations for the traveling public, but not including major 
repair work such as motor overhaul, body and fender repairs, or spray painting. 
 



 

Page 3 of 7 

 
Section 4. Digital Security Camera Systems in Convenience Type Grocery Stores 
And Service Stations. 
 
(4.1) Findings. The Jackson City Council finds that requiring the installation of digital 
security cameras to monitor convenience type grocery stores and service stations’ 
fueling areas/parking lots and entranceways/exits to be in the best interests of the 
City of Jackson in that it will help protect the City’s citizens, visitors, and business 
employees from abductions, robberies, and other similar criminal acts and will assist 
local authorities in the apprehension of the perpetrators of such crimes. The City 
Council also finds that the requirement of the installation of a digital security camera 
system is not unreasonable or overly burdensome for local business owners, as most 
convenience type grocery stores and service stations already have functioning digital 
security camera systems.  
 
The City Council further finds that the installation and use of such digital cameras will 
act as a deterrent to future crimes. Further, the requirement that said digital security 
camera systems be connected to the City’s “Blue Light Camera Network” will aid in 
protecting the health and safety of the City’s citizens, visitors, and business 
employees by bolstering the Jackson Police Department’s ability to respond to 
emergency situations quickly and safely by having access to real-time video footage 
of the location. Further, the “Blue Light Camera Network” ensures that video footage 
is stored safely encrypted in the “cloud” and will be easily accessible and quickly 
retrievable so that the City is able to investigate and more quickly and safely 
apprehend criminal suspects.  
 
The City Council finds that such a system will also have the effect of greatly reducing 
police department labor-hours, thereby allowing those city funds to be spent 
elsewhere on things such as hiring new police officers and purchasing new 
equipment, that have been traditionally spent, after a crime has been committed at 
such a business, in contacting these businesses and attempting to coordinate a time 
to travel to the business to gain access to the camera system for the search and 
retrieval of video footage. 
 
Finally, the City Council finds that this digital camera security system requirement will 
also greatly benefit the owners of convenience type grocery stores and service 
stations by increasing the number of customers, by assisting with lowering the 
number of people loitering on the premises, by protecting the business’s employees, 
by greatly reducing the business’s possible exposure to civil liability, and by possibly 
lowering liability insurance premiums. 
 
(4.2) Intent. It is the City Council’s intent to require all convenience type grocery 
stores and service stations located within the City of Jackon to install and properly 
maintain a digital security camera system that, at a minimum, provides video 



 

Page 4 of 7 

coverage of the fueling area/parking lot and the entry/exit to the building using a 
separate digital camera to cover each location. The digital cameras and resulting 
video footage should be of such a quality to enable the identification and 
distinguishing characteristics of people and vehicles located on the premises.  
 
Convenience type grocery store and service station owners are required to purchase 
and install these digital security cameras and/or to ensure that the already existing 
digital security cameras can connect to the internet and that they meet the minimum 
requirements of this Ordinance (such as image quality requirements and location 
requirements). 
 
The City Council further intends that all such digital security camera systems that are 
to be installed pursuant to this Ordinance (and all such digital security camera 
systems that have already been installed that meet the minimum requirements of 
this Ordinance) be incorporated into the City’s “Blue Light Camera Network.”  
 
The City Council intends for the owners of convenience type grocery stores and 
service stations to contact the City’s Department of Planning and Development and 
complete an application and arrange payment for the networking gear that is required 
for connecting to the “Blue Light Camera Network.” This equipment will be installed 
by the City or its designee. All such businesses should have a date scheduled for 
installation of the equipment within one hundred and twenty (120) days of passage of 
this Ordinance.  
 
The City Council intends that the City’s Department of Planning and Development will 
have the authority to enforce compliance with this Ordinance through whatever 
administrative measures and means that Department deems necessary, including, 
but not limited to the following: the requirement that convenience type grocery stores 
and service stations provide proof that they have complied with this Ordinance during 
their application for a yearly business license; adding the requirement for these 
security camera systems to the permits that must be obtained during the new 
construction/remodel of these types of businesses; and the possibility of the 
imposition of monetary fines for failing to comply. 
 
The City Council intends that the City will provide signage, at no cost to the business, 
that states that the area is under video surveillance and that the cameras are a part 
of the City’s “Blue Light Camera Network.” These signs will be required to be installed 
in an area that is easily viewable and prominent. Further, as part of the store’s 
payment for the networking equipment, each store will receive an actual blue light 
device that visually alerts customers and any potential criminal actors that the area 
is being monitored and that video is being taken and stored. 
 
 



 

Page 5 of 7 

(4.3) Required Digital Security Camera System for Convenience Type Grocery 
Stores and Service Stations.  
 
(a) Every convenience type grocery store and service station shall install, maintain, 
and operate a digital security camera system capable of connecting to the internet 
that produces easily retrievable digital video files that are of such quality as to make 
the distinguishing characteristics of patrons and vehicles easily identifiable, whether 
recorded during the day or at night, and storing them in such a way as to allow for the 
uploading of the video footage to the “Blue Light Camera Network’s” cloud storage. 
For purposes of compliance with this ordinance, this requirement is the duty and 
obligation of the developer, owner, and/or lessor of the real property on which the 
convenience store and/or service station is located. 
 
(b) The digital security camera system must be capable of identifying and 
distinguishing all vehicles entering and leaving the parking area/lot(s), identifying all 
vehicles making use of gasoline fuel pumps, and identifying all individuals entering 
and exiting the establishment. This will require the installation of a minimum of two 
digital security cameras covering the parking lot/fuel pumps and the entry/exit of the 
business. 
 
(c) Specifications of the digital security camera system shall be: 
 

(1) Camera: Digital cameras must be able to produce videos and images 
capable of identifying and distinguishing all vehicles entering and leaving the 
parking area/lot(s), identifying all vehicles making use of gasoline fuel pumps, 
and identifying all individuals entering and exiting the establishment, whether 
recorded during the day or at night. 
 
(2) Video Resolution: All video recordings must have a resolution that is 
sufficient for identifying and distinguishing all vehicles entering and leaving 
the parking area/lot(s), identifying all vehicles making use of gasoline fuel 
pumps, and identifying all individuals entering and exiting the establishment, 
whether recorded during the day or at night. 
 
(3) Recording Capability: All videos must be stored in such a way that they 
can be quickly uploaded to the “Blue Light Camera Network’s” cloud storage. 
After the video files have been uploaded to cloud storage, business owners are 
then free to delete any video files still stored on their local security camera 
system. 

 
(d) Recording Duration: every convenience type grocery store and service station 
covered by this ordinance shall operate its digital security camera system twenty-four 
hours per day. 
 



 

Page 6 of 7 

(4.4) Implementation Schedule. Every convenience type grocery store and service 
station covered by this ordinance shall have a compliant digital security camera 
system installed and a date scheduled for the City, or its designee, to install the 
required networking equipment within one hundred and twenty (120) days of passage 
of this Ordinance. However, the imposition of any monetary fines and/or other 
penalties that might be created by the City’s Department of Planning and 
Development for failing to comply with this Ordinance shall not begin being assessed 
until January 1st of 2025. Convenience type grocery stores and service stations 
covered by this Ordinance that begin operations after the effective date of this 
ordinance shall comply with the requirements of this ordinance prior to the 
commencement of operations and shall comply with any and all requirements 
established by the City’s Department of Planning and Development. 
 
(4.5) Signage Requirement. Every convenience type grocery store and service 
station covered by this ordinance will be provided with a sign from the City that gives 
notice that the area is under twenty-four-hour video monitoring and gives notice that 
the security cameras are connected to the City’s “Blue Light Camera Network.” This 
sign shall be posted in an area that is clearly visible and prominent. 
 
(4.6) Permitting Fees Waived. The City shall waive all building permit fees associated 
with the initial implementation of this ordinance upon the permitting and installation 
of a complaint digital security camera system connected to the City’s “Blue Light 
Camera Network.” 
 
(4.7) Exceptions. It shall not be a violation of this Ordinance if the security camera 
system is inoperable because of an act of God, including, but not limited to, weather 
conditions, if the security camera system is restored to operational capacity as soon 
as is reasonably possible.  
 
Section 5. Penalties. The City’s Department of Planning and Development shall be 
responsible for creating and enforcing any monetary and/or other penalties 
associated with failing to comply with this Ordinance. Any such penalties shall be 
published and made available to the public. All penalties created pursuant to this 
Ordinance shall be subject to an appeal and any and all persons/entities penalized 
under this Ordinance shall have the absolute right to an appeal. The City’s 
Department of Planning and Development shall be responsible for establishing these 
appeal procedures. 
 
Section 6. Severability. The provisions of this Ordinance are declared to be 
severable, and if any section, sentence, clause, or phrase of this ordinance shall, for 
any reason, be held to be invalid or unconstitutional, such decision shall not affect 
the validity of the remaining sections, sentences, clauses, and phrases of this 
ordinance but they shall remain in effect, it being the legislative intent that this 
ordinance shall stand notwithstanding the invalidity of any part. Specifically, should 



 

Page 7 of 7 

the requirement that all security cameras covered under this Ordinance be 
connected to the City’s “Blue Light Camera Network” be found to be in violation of 
state and/or federal rules, laws, or regulations, or be found to violate either the 
Mississippi Constitution or the United States Constitution, it is the legislative intent 
that said requirement be stricken from this Ordinance without affecting the validity of 
the remaining sections, sentences, clauses, and phrases of this Ordinance. 
 
Section 7. Conflicts. All Ordinances in conflict with this Ordinance are repealed only 
to the extent of such conflict. 
 
Section 8. Effective Date. This ordinance shall be effective thirty (30) days from and 
after adoption. 
 
 
 
 
 
 









































































































































































































































































































































































_j 












































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































